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I. [FL&IC
(1) ¥x7F Y 74 B3 3 HEHREATR

AR ERIT R s, JURLECHEFEA L, 2ot NEL. R % &% R(good corporate
citizenship) 2 EZ G UMRA VT —~<%20&ET 5D TH Y, JA< 1T ESG [#E L L THEEAT T %
AN LBLnEnbildl,

—FRM TR WIh e, ESG MEOEE (E) 123, [REH GHG - REDOHH, V¥
A7, KEROFH R L ORE, & (S) i<k, BIGoboflE - otk X804k
P AHE, EEB ORERcR, WEIH, WEOH - Lo, ¥ 774 F = — v oy@kiisa & o
R, AN F v R (G) ITid, HOTHUR R LIRS D L ERIE - R, HRI OMER] % Bz & o
MEREEIND L Ih b2,

(2) HEHFEZFFEE - Mk Lo EHRBR

HHGES#EE R, Y27 F Y T AR 2013 ESG BHR & W ) WG T © o BRI
ik onTtsod, y27Fe ) 74 #f#EHLR WL ESG D 5 b4 o7 —~<IicBIL Cif
WHRHESFR T b T2 b o, 1933 FitzRiE (MU, 1933 4% Eo&ikmEtiE. 1934
EEERAGT TS (LUT. 1934 E) EoFRIER . BEREFHIHES IC BT 2 IFMBIERD
W ICHR 2 5CHEHIEZ E® % Reg. S-K (17 CFR Part 229) OBI/RIEHE (Item) TORHIRAE K
INBZDLDOHH 5,

WMEDOHITHHI L, OF vy F 77 v 2731503 5&(d)DMHE %321 T, Reg. S-KICIHH 104 23
BIE N, ARKZOMmOFLIZEE § 5 &t s X T2 H T 3 84, B ocet: &k
RS 2 HHEE K o Tl E R BN & ¢ B HIEAEA S N6 (2011 ), @QFy F 75 v 7
% 953 Ze()(DICHD & Reg. S-K DIHH 402 (1)1 35\ T B O F BRI & 2063 B o F R
e DlEEZFREEIHE (WbWw3, <4 - LI ADRIR) PEASnZH (2015 F).
NETIE, Y 7= T CHEEEH 2T, SR OFEMINAKEL 1 N v 2@z 5/0NE
HHBIVHLEREZ N L, ¥ 774 F 2 — v icB T 2P ANGFHRE PR T 2720, AEE
B D Y 27 OFH - SO 72003 T 74 F 2 — v OIRGER, 3774 Fc—vickT 5

1 SEC, Rel. No. 33-10064 (Concept release), Business and Financial Disclosure Required by Regulation S-K (Apr.
13, 2016), 81 Fed. Reg. 23916, 23970 (Apr. 22, 2016).

2 Jennifer O’'Hare, Don’t Forget the “G” in ESG: The SEC and Corporate Governance Disclosure, 64 Ariz. L. Rev.
417, 422 (2022); Lisa M. Fairfax, Dynamic Disclosure: An Expose on the Mythical Divide Between Voluntary and
Mandatory ESG Disclosure, 101 Tex. L. Rev. 273, 281 (2022).
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ANEFEE RBGHIC D W T O YR 2t O IR E 2585 L T\ 2 0 2 i T 5 72 0 O M43
HHREOEREDEEREEEHO Y =2 734 F ECTHRT % X9 EH DT SHIE (Cal. Civil.
Code§1714.43: AV 7N =T - H 754 F = — ViEPFELIRITN33) Z2EA L7241 (2010 4)
RERZOHE L THETLND,

(3) BEMBAIROHLL Y

ftt)7 . SEC ~DRHEH T R EEDOFRFEINLLFER MO —R %272 > TWwb X5 TH
D, avIILT 4 v 7 - FEED Governance & Accountability Institute, Inc. (G&A ) D
TIC LN, S&P500 DR ASAED 5 b3 27 F v ) 7 4 MG EZER LBIR T 2 &603, 2011
FFITIE 20% IS E 722> o 72 A3, 2015 1T 1E 81%. 2021 FFITIE 96WITEL TWd L WwHd, 29
LI RATFE) T4 8EHD 5 0iE ESG shEFDOH TR L. &tho v = 794 + LCHH
MENDBZEDEL, ZONKRIEEPERICI>TEHETH Y, Z2NFhDOTF—~ T LicHE
HEFERT 20 B L, BEXX 100 HZHEA 2D D525 LKA THL LI THS
(Fairfax Aiifg 292 H. Fisch944 HE5),

9 L7 KRB Eattic X2 HERBRBIL KT T3 ed, RO KEDOH AT F &
V7 4 BT 21EHATRE LT, WO FEHTREHH LoBZ R b, 511 m%ﬁf
8 HIZ SEC ic X » Tirbh 7z A\WEAICE 3 2 R HH (Reg. S-K) o&IE (TR, 5 2 1,
2%2&35*8&3 Lo Tirbh7z5Ur% @%L@%rﬁﬂCMgSKzivR%sx)@&

Z (FRCID. 55 3 1c, HURif W 8 0 % ki c B3 2 B #il (Nasdaq EGHANIE) (F
EEIV) DI3HICONT, UFTTWMYIFsLE53,

I. ABEZR (Human Capital) DIEHREDT

1. M

(1) RERDOBTEES

7) BITEE
2t FRMEFCEFMEFEICE VT, WEBDBERT 2 enEBEIT o TY

7= (2020 FSUERT Reg. S-K HHH Ol(c)(l)(xnl))

¥ SECOHAA Xy ATk, #¥hBZE > ERETE S 23R i, IEREBEICm A, 28
ﬁﬁ®ﬁ%ﬁﬁ?%:k#*b6nfwto

1) REBBORROES

3 Cal. SB No. 657 (Sept. 30, 2010).

4 Governance & Accountability Institute, Inc., 2022 Sustainability Reporting in Focus 5, http://www.ga-
institute.com/fileadmin/ga_institute/images/FlashReports/2022/G_A-2022-
Sustainability_Trends_Report.pdf?vgo_ee=bFASwuHthE8fVKdki%2FKrvTvb7N%2FYSF4F%2F19VbQlwnwg%3
D

5 Jill E. Fisch, Making Sustainability Disclosure Sustainable, 107 Geo. L. J, 923, 944 (2019).

¢ SEC, Regulation S-K Compliance & Disclosure Interpretations Q. 203.01 (July 3, 2008).
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SEC @ R (R BB EBEXKP AL OFFEEH O R E 3 BB Z5HEi$ 2 2 L iTiRZ b,
HERBBCREEB O OZLIE, 2ttoFEHIH OB LI EZRL T B HT, KEXD
BEEHIWT %372 (SEC, 2016 Concept Rel., 81 Fed. Reg. at 23936),

7) BR ORI
FRROMEBOMOBIRIF AT X o THRA TH D RD X 9 Zddd & o7z (SEC, 2016
Concept Rel., 81 Fed. Reg. at 23936),

C TNRALE N R A LICHTCREET B B
R LI BB R RRE S B
LBOWEBERER L T 32t CIIEES OB Z R L. 578 A £ 72 3B o MR~
DA 2Tl % fl
- WEEB L OBRORNZTHH L. /EEB TR I EHA OEHANR L Eo T E 721k
FEA I X o TREFPBILZTHON TV B IO THIR T 56

T) BEWBR
2020 FHHKIERTD> &, SEC ~DfEM DI, HEMFIRICE T, AREARICET 2

BIRZITONTE 22, B EMBIRICIZERP 7k (aspirationa) fL# P A ¥ 7 4 7 nigam o3 5

TN RITH VT, R T N2 ERICEEEDOIRAEL 72 . SEC IC X 2 F&E P REAR L

DG R BB ETOXNRE D I N T ARVWD T, ZDEMMVESTIIAED X I RD DT

Hol-bfEfiIn s, FEOERIKATHY, FHHOMETTEL 2L, HEROHIZ—FKT

. —EHUEoB2EHRE R LT o T o L, HERICHEBESGEEX G5 22D LT

moTWwhrorzbiFE b (Georgiev Hifg 676-677 H),

*) 2016 FOa v 7k - JY—2X
WERDOBHTRHNEDTE (WEEBHDA) TX W ?SEC 1% 2016 Fa v 7 k- VY =X

Ta Ay b EFEE ((SEC, 2016 Concept Rel., 81 Fed. Reg. 23916)) — BIRHNEDOILT % 2

ET24LDarRV BB o7z,

(2) NHWEROEHFHAROEER - TR

7) NKEXDOEE
[FIE. A ¥, BBl Z OfAEICE TG L, TGREIC s, y—evx i
TATTHEAETZDICHCONZENZ 2 IXMEADEE Y ITliib - 72FFHE ) Z2EH L <
W3 (REFOMEE), — kot Bsbh, SECIHERL T,

@ N\ EAREH (management) D 3%

GERNHEDONTNED, 2O00HEERELEZEHA TS (Georgiev HifE 644-645 H),
OANNEREMR T, Stto AINER EEECWEE) 2 BN aliiz b 72 o THEEEE

7 George S. Georgiev, The Human Capital Management in U.S. Corporate Law, 95 Tul. L. Rev. 639, 676 (2021).
8 Gregory H. Shill, The Geography of Human Capital Management, 77 Bus. Law. 679, 686 (2022).

9 Sven-Age Westphalen, REPORTING ON HUMAN CAPITAL; OBJECTIVES AND TRENDS 10 (1999),
https://www.oecd.org/sti/ind/1948014.pdf.



LT,

QOAWERERHIZ, RN ZMEL D725 FTHBHEORIICN L THFS T 20 LeA0LNE
T (72 & 20F, FTEETT. IEEBOBBELL A, (EER L OXEE, SRECS O ZE)
ICBItR T %,

1) BERERIC X 3 \WEAEE ICBET 2 BBHNERSE
2017 %, BlackRock AREAREHZ KD 2 EM (RHEEFHATO P L —=v 7PEHE 2L

ETLLICIVRERBICHTIEMLZR 2SI E b RVWETEHE), £ Dk, State

Street % Vanguard % [FERIC ARV EARE I % 35w L iR 72 (Georgiev Hii18 668-670 H),
¥ 72, The Human Capital Management Coalition (2017 F4KfT 2.8 K F LD EHEEZH T

BB R (NNERRE) 0/ Av—7) 5 SEC a—FKL—L+ - 774 F VYV RFIH T

ANEARBHR % (e 3 2 BLAIHIE % koo 5 B2 CoEE (201747 A 6 H) 10Tk, AWER

DR OROMEDOH 2EETH Y. ANNERZEZERICANTHED 5 T L ILMMiiE % #FF LK

T2 LICKIOTHSH . ANWERICET 2 HFHRFAROILTIC X o TREF IS OFHES

Y27, WL ZBEYICEHECE 2 X5 1cm b, %< OEIANEIZIANERD L FLEML X

DIWRESAT 53—~V REBRLTVWE L ZHAL TV A EDERE RSN, kil

The Human Capital Management Coalition DEFf D223 K & < | fthd ESG Difis & 13Y]

DEEL7ZECIRELZ2DDTH Y, ZNICL > TAMEAREH W T —< il TERERK

ST R L7z & wbitd (Georgiev HiE 672 H),

2018 4£ 10 H i< Jill Fisch #4% & Cynthia Williams #i% 2584 < SEC 121 L 72 ESG
B3 2 HHAHIE oz Cic T, Eid The Human Capital Management Coalition ® 5k
ZHIH L 72 o ANWEAREH OBR O BB R S -1,

) SEC n#ERBEEES (IAC) O
2019 4 3 A, IAC BRAWEAREHOF/R %2 59 % § OHESEGE 2 &R, 1975 FF L 2015

Tk, WEEEOMEDEIAD 5 FHME ko TH D, HMMESCANERD X 5 mlEE

PEOTEMOBEEEN R E o T3 2L, RIETIRANERIAHEOMEOERL L TiRx bn

TWw2ILdrrbbd, SEC OEMNART L. AEAZ X P LTLARATEL T,

ANWEREH 2 2L ofifEglE D F7- 2 EIHE L TAHAZMNITGBEVW DWW TwinwZ &, iz

KWk3 2 SEC DIFHRAROMMAR R I NERE L7 &% faH (TACHIE 1-2 H),

TV TN e R=ZATORIREHELOD, Ex o —EOMBEFHZIERL, 27201
£t L oFEFoE N (28 21X [BGoRet] IlathcldEESRTH 22, V7 b
v TR TTIRERE TR IChE TR L5 TACHE 3-5 H),

10 https://www.sec.gov/rules/petitions/2017 /petn4-711.pdf

1 Cynthia Williams & Jill E. Fisch, Request for rulemaking on environmental, social, and governance (ESG)
disclosure (Oct.1, 2018), https://digitalcommons.osgoode.yorku.ca/reports

12 SEC Investor Advisory Committee, Recommendation of the Investor Advisory Committee Human Capital

Management Disclosure (Mar. 28, 2019).



x) SEC & 27 (2019 4F - 2020 4F)

HHISOEICER LTIk~ 5 172 SEC D FLfiE + SUERT Reg. S-KIHH 101(c) (1) (xiii) 23E® b
7oAy, 23 % DfifE% =0 5 72D ICHEEEEEICRKE CKIFL TE 722, SHTIESS
DEtHIC & o THIEEELVHADEEEFIR L ko T3,

ANER — ZLORthict > THELZERTH Y, LRELEZOHEMLETHY, X
FIE BT, RERROEELFH N L2250, LoT, L oHHE, KEKICL >TA
HWEADHRIZEERIGTRTH 51,

2. WEAE

(1) HEDHX
[2020 4F 11 A 9 HEAB&#IC SEC Ic2HH & 2 G HE - B hkfm i i wA
IH Reg. S-K¥HH 101(c)(1)(xiid) Z HIFx L <. HHH 101(c)(2)G) % Hrax

[(2) BEOEE2HICEL T, 2o, HELEKROMMICEE 4 (materia)HiFH <, RIEHD
©@)DF L VWICEE T N7HRICOVTEMT 22 &, 272 L, BEEMPFRED LS AV |
ICHEERDDTH S L 2L, BIMICYZ LAY F 2HETNETH B, ]

MG BHEICL > TEA I N2 HEOE GUERE O NWEAKFROR, X OBHRED
HEZRET 5 ECcHEMT % (focus on) AEAR DK (measures) T 721X HIY (72 & 21X, EFkE
DHEEBLCHENOWEIIE L T, AMOBFE. AMZ51%21F 207135 X AWM ORIt
WF 2SR E 721X HI R &) DRtib, |

(2) SEC ot
7)) ANEERDER

BAMRRE~Da X v b Tl TANER] OEREHIT EXZLT50D0bH o725, KD

Hotzo KNDaXy MiTlE, NNERDPLENTH Y, ilxoattokilLHIICA DY

LIETHOOLNTVEHDTHE L, AEREH L Vo TH ZN% i3 2 RN 7277

FF 7, ERCSMIC X VA R BRI ET MM ch 2L, hEBERRbN

Tz,

SEC O Rfif : ZOMGEDOERIIFFHIE LD ICHEEL S 2db0TH Y, EFRFFHEOETHRA

BEHICIDVZNEINERINIZDDTHLZ b, [ ANER] OERBE 2T

- 72 (85 Fed. Reg. at 63739),

1) REEBBOBRNOHER:
WIER OB - FEOHRICEHE LT, NEEBRDORRIERING,
MERF SN2 BEAHF T 2 OICEE 7 (material) EE 2 OFH ARG HRZ HER IR

13 SEC, Rel. No. 33-10668 (Proposal Rule), Modernization of Regulation S-K Items 101, 103, and 105 (Aug. 8,
2019), 84 Fed. Reg. 44358, 44370 (Aug. 23, 2019).

14 SEC, Rel. No. 33-10825 (Final Rule), Modernization of Regulation S-K Items 101, 103, and 105 (Aug. 26,
2020), 85 Fed. Reg. 63726, 63739 (Oct. 8, 2020).



TELDTH 00, FEEDDORE I CHBI 2 L. FERFAY 222810 %2 FHii 5~ 2 D 1437

D, £y NNEROEHICOWTOMGmZ e L, N 2FH 2R DL 2% (85 Fed.

Reg. at 63740),
V) HEEBBLUNOHH
TV VTN e X=ZDOHEITHICHEL 2D T, ZAXA L N—F 24 LR,
B OB, BECR R & ORIZIZRA L 72> o 7= (85 Fed. Reg. at 63740), &t Hliic &l
bNTWw5, SEC~DEfMof (- Fidcf) i3, HERPLERIERE BT, —
Bl WA E 7203 2 eh b, MEHOEEORMEZRKD 23 0035 - 723, BHIHR
ZV Y — 2Tl [FEOB I EHE I T, 2O EIR A2 BRERIC X B 5 & ¢,
ZLTEERED I ICEHMINI O EEFOHZEL THZ 5 X5 I1cd 5 AREARICH
TR ERIEHTCLEBRIL TS, | [FXToathick L, BENCTREDHBER D
FARZERTZ2 L RRIABEERAARNEEAOA W, ] B TEH (84 Fed. Reg. at
44370-71), BHERIRY VY =R QR L3, $7abb, ~S— X4 L TR A4 LDREES,
B, R A, B 7 & O iR AR ORI EE AP T, 23R L R0 h
X7 b7 b (85 Fed. Reg. at 63740),

cf. Human Capital Management Coalition 7' SEC 3—RUL—k » D71 F Y RABICHETEZ

ANERHATZERET DRATEEROHDIPIICOERG (2017F7H68) '°
OBBBDAOHST (DA LAE/N— I LAORESDH, JRKEBBEDE, FFEITEMTDTIE
EFA. @FBBDRZEM (BElE (BENRKIUIEEEHN). NBEAR). QHBEDENK (BRI,
SEZOREEDTIE « EEE « thER), @BBEDIAFILRXUVEED (FU—ZVT. SHEIBE DIREE.
REEARR). OBFBEDUEB KUHER (RESEDXEE. HEDOHREKRB. D—03517 - NSYADR
&), ©@FBBEORREZE (BEINE. BUS. KER), OBBBEDEEN CHEIBDERXIMNR.
WA ARES 1 BHEDONGE /N, OAEANDIIY FXY FEZDORRE (JRDEFTHET
BDEHICANDRA, BEEEDHBRENDTIOLR, HiGEDT a2 — T« UI T VR, QFEEDIHMI
EAVEYT 4T (MITRENTORESICANSNDIIN-TFTER. 1 VYT« IICK>TETD
2D Z8RT DICHDIER)
%k Kk K % 5k 5k 5k %k K 3k %k k 5k

AIFICHESD U —ZVIICRHUREBEDORDIBRIL—IL « N=2DBHERE. FU—ZVTD3ZH
DEDKDICBEBIEIC DIZDNDNDDKRDIBRT I VI T « N=2DRTDWEIEE. ABNEBREERIC
DN TDBEDHDERZELEXICIRIT D, SEC FHREUHERET DRIC. CNb 2 DOFPTO
—FOBDR/INS Y RZHR T DUENDHDCSED, (26~27 B)
— L& LR, SECIZEemnr— « X—ZA[R % AR

15 https://www.sec.gov/rules/petitions/2017 /petn4-711.pdf

16- Amanda M. Rose, A Response to Calls for SEC-Mandated ESG Disclosure, 98 Wash. U. L. Rev. 1821, 1838
(2021). HHANFEZLRICH L, Human Capital Management Coalition DR ICih-> =MIEWABRE L+ 2 & 2k
2aXv otz vy (1d. at 1839),



T) MEgE L HIY
[ ORI, A %E5I & D 2 )13 X OREZE B OHERFICT L 2 ik £ 721X H Y
— PIRTH o THICHRERKD LNEDDTIE ARV, ANEARADOEHICEET 3R LV
Higid, B oREE LOICRIEL S 20 TH Y, DENEELZTIERS, i, [H,
LRI kI, Z DRED~ 7 nRFORILPE T 72 (ZHR O@ERED X 5 2 AERER
B G5 2 D& Ik s TEAINI 2D TH 200, MENREFIIED S
Nhhot, ZOXMOREOEE, Hi#). B LXOEESLRIICE U FRBHIREE LT
% (85 Fed. Reg. at 63739).
A) Y VLTI e R—2DBERGE
ANBERDEREICIT FICIBR72 X 9 BERECTKEDR DY 5 5720 flllZED 2 77iEL Y,
TV TN s R=XATOFROTHBLVERDD ZFRNICORNR L, flhld, ZOEIN
TARDUSE L 72T TR 21T 5 Z &3 CTE ., k%R b OVEZ M L 72 L3 (85 Fed.
Reg. at 63739),

3. kREt
(1) Vv Fr - R—2ThsiL

SEC IZ. IE# Reg. SSKIEH 101@Q)GDICDOWT, DL ZAHNA XV AR LTk
v, IR, SEC 2R3 X 9ic, Vv T - R=2%FHL T3S, SECHAT) v T
Lo R=ZADJTIEEBEFFLZ0E, AWERICET 2EWR. tho x4 ToEHRsEHEL S
TE-DEFAL X ICHEEINERVWDDTHE L SEC BEZ=20AhD0H Lkn
(Georgiev Hi{g 722-723 H),

SEC RH/R L T\, Z AT CORIRICIE, ZRkIE~DEHL A, ¥ = v & — DA FE,
X B OFEEE (BECKEEED) R EPIEMINE 2Ltk s L HEIN TS (O'Hare
A8 437 H), b o &b, Fit bk, # 4 X vxb L, BERNAEEROBETRD R, 20XHk
HMEDD & Tlx, EMHH 7 (boilerplate) R Z2E U X2 2 0[REM 3 H D 17, EEXKBIHLEE L,
BEHMICLEL SNDEREZTZTH T LN TZ 200 L o LEERNP, RtLOFHENK X
WOTHR LW BEHNTSH 2 L EZ 22 IEMATZ RS 22 LB TE2X51C%5D
Tl & o 2R BR 5T b (Georgiev HitE 718-719 H),

BUED [EEHiPH | &9 materiality DEIRICDWC, SEC 1ZIHH 101, 103 3 X U 105
I3 HE L L1934 FEHLAT 12b-2 35 & O 1933 FERIAN 405 1C 5 TEFE X 417z material |
A& NS & SEC 13fif3 % (85 Fed. Reg. at 63745), & Z TEFZ X NLT\» % material 13,
=7 0° TSC Industries, Inc. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438 (1976) T/k L 72 NAE & —3K
T25DTHD5, LhoT, AHMNGREERPHZENMZ 3 2 1L CUEERZERETH

17 Cynthia A. Williams & Donna M. Nagy, ESG and Climate Change Blind Spots: Turning the Corner on SEC
Disclosure, 99 Tex. L. Rev. 1453, 1479-1480 (2021).



% & z 512 0 EIRVE(substantial likelihood) 28 % % 2> & 9 2o, IO F W% 31, Y%
EDFR N7 O IFHHAFRE R IEROMBAELE LK ED % & AN HRERLE 2 5 HY D
BERUEDB DL D, DHAEL D,

LA L. 72 & 2 I35 0@k et iconwT, BERIIMo S L oot X b
RHE L CEF L, 20t TEEZL ] HRe ko CattidR2E T2 22D TH
2T, 2tttk o CEHREM 2 2 L e, ZOERAKREZEECH 2 LHMT2LiET
ERVOTERVY, Lo BB REI N TW S (Georgiev Hifg 721-722 H),

SUEIZ A2 X 0 22 @ 72 (modest)SETH - 72 & i & 1L 2 18— ¢, HHAISIER b K
Re LT, BEARERS L OIEEFMB, O, LV S OERBNT -2 2R 2BERA LN
2X5THBY, FPLb, SHBOXILRBZLERHLE AL, X VMBENRBIRTES BT
522 LHEFE LK (SASB 0RO ZRE) . F 72T X CORRNIZE/RIICEE 2 EERICR
bNTVWEDTHLb, HEEOHMW A IR RETHL2LTFRTIABDALAOLNS
(Cynthia & Nagy Hi#g 1480 H. Ho - 2022 4Hii{§ 334 H),

(2) FARDRI

fEfTH @ 2020 4E 11 A 8 H2* 5 2021 4 2 A 15 H oI & 72 R MEE D Reg. S-K
JEH 101(0)(2)Gi) DRI DA (S&P500 D 9 B 143 1) 201 L iE, R 1 BEDO D D
o 3HEICKEDDETHY, RELELED -T2, KEFBOSHIE, ANNEAREZ ED X HITE
ATWE eI EWMEIREZITo Tz, 2 2iCid, HIEIC/R 3720 ORUE & B o 3D
GEINnTnis,

F13 002 dattix, EEERICMA, D7 Ed 1 2O EQHIEE - 12 & A TW
7o T2 203, HIBLIC X 2 08H, N—F 24 L 724 LREEB DR, SIERI BT O X
REBRDUEEBOEEG, P v A —%BT b0, MK, fE¥8 L ONEE, EBKEERER
REEELDIDOND 5T,

Mo T —~w e LTt ML SO E, HEEBDOXA 7 4 v b Gl fth D4k,
D ET) . WEBDBRE LURENEGNICE . ZoEr (BTN, (LD
WEG T v — PR G B . S0 # x 7. COVID-19 D52k K DiFm DRt d & - 72,

M. SAXZEFREE (Climate Change Related) DiFEREFT<
1. HEEt
(1) REEKOBE - [UREENICET 2 EHEAT

18 Virginia Harper Ho, Modernizing ESG Disclosure, 2022 U. IIl. L. Rev. 277, 281 (2022).

19 Bourveau, Thomas and Chowdhury, Maliha and Le, Anthony and Rouen, Ethan, Human Capital Disclosures 28
(Sept. 24, 2022), SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=4138543

20 Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance, Human Capital Disclosures Findings From 2020 10-Ks,
Posted by Neri Bukspan and Marc Siegel, EY (May 25, 2021),
https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2021/05/25/human-capital-disclosures-findings-from-2020-10-ks/
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7) 1971 4 - 1973 EDfFR Y Y — 2
1933 ik + 1934 FiE ETED o N BHIPEA (10— K % S-1 @ Instruction) 12FWT,
(2] KoV TOREICIE, KATGRFOBRE LOEICB L CEERAF2MEF T 5 2 &5,
LE O, WK I ~DERGET - 3 EREOELR LT LA LR L 23, TP EER
i, B3 RE, RERED -0 OHEH - I - M oM Db & T U BEE R Fai % 13,
MERTHEE | iCs W ThR T~ &2, 1973 FORAMIET, Ktts L UZ 0Tttt
2§36 X O b 510t 3 2 BREGICRE 3 2 ik - Ml 0@y 23 BT LTS 5 BB i 2 B
LT, [ oMHE T T~ B2 ML, 7. BRIEREICE T 28, N 72 (3o #
Hill EA U7 ATB b & 72 13 RE Lo Fhe & 1k, NEM TR E ) ~Oii#os bR 15 [FHZEICHTHE
LTAEL 2 HEW IR KIS LavE, FECHHFREBICERTVEN D 2557201
X — 2 DEPEFHD 10% 2 A2 25 KEFEEZ KD 2T/ TH 258 ICIEFHRIRKD b N D
& % BHREC23,
A) 2010 D SECIZ X B3 H 4 XV A

EWstco GHG PEEE~DB.O, oI Y 28 Ric, SEEEBLE QBT OGN
FifilicBd3 2 SEC @ Rz ah ~7- % D24
—  SURZEENCET 2 FlR 0 ER & 1S 2 IEMBIE BT R (Reg. S'K) HHE & LT, OF¥0D
RI. @QFENFRE, @Y R 7 %R, @OREE DiFEwm e o (MD &A)

<ex.> SRZBICBAT 2 - DL - Bl & v o R, FRICERGPEE LGRS
et - RS . AIRAENC X 2 ERAYBEZE LR LR, O~@orR2E T 3HHE &5
& D Rfi# (75 Fed. Reg. at 6295-6297)

Ao 2016 fF SEC Ik 22 v & 7 b - VU —R T, Reg. SKICHB W TKAMELBNICET 215
WEARZ RN T 2 Ehatvy PRk OoNTE TS, 10,100 fFDa A ¥ FDH B, 10,070
DR EF L EXFFT 2D THo7 w925, LirL, ESG PAMEICET 2RI, AR
BN EHGOMMAZES 2 Lo THEETH S 2L b 1 DDBHI & 72> T, SEC DHIH]
HIE~DEZ (3 L Tz & 5 TH 3 (Cynthia & Nagy Hite 1478 H),

5, %< KBS HIZ, GRI (Global Reporting Initiative), SASB (Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board). TFCD (Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure) .

ARRMECET 2RO D & CBUF L ORI AL - T HEORMBRRELC L 21k, TPEELLA, [H
E] IOV TORBMICECTHRT &, NRMEE LEOFHE £ 72 13 07 RIEE LM O RIFEE LR B - 7235
Gy TNBEE AL, NEMFRE ] T THRTRE, Loz ARbRI Nz,

22 SEC, Rel. No. 33-5170 (Interpretative Release), Disclosure Pertaining to Matters Involving the Environment
and Civil Rights (July 19, 1971), 36 Fed. Reg. 13989 (July 29, 1971).

23 SEC, Rel. No. 33-5386 (Final Rule), Disclosure With Respect to Compliance With Environmental Requirements
and Other Matters (July 3, 1973), 38 Fed. Reg. 12100 (May 9, 1973).

24 SEC, Rel. No. 33-9106 (Interpretation), Commission Guidance Regarding Disclosure Related to Climate
Change (Feb. 2, 2010), 75 Fed. Reg. 6290 (Feb. 8, 2010).

%5 Andrew W. Winden, Jumpstarting Sustainability Disclosure, 76 Bus. Law. 1215, 1217 (2021).
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CDP (IH Carbon Disclosure Project) &\ o7 = F oI 7L -2 7 -2 %2%HWwT, H
FHIFRZIToCT& 7, L L, ThiCiE% < Dfa = SEC 2MeEfi+ 2 Lo i, zhZthok
WEGERBIC B W CHRIEE. #PH, WETTE, 747y P REPES TV LR EDND
26, —H M, HIEEDM., BEARI TS LOEHMARINTE 227,

(2) SEEBEREBRFIE OREHEE (202243 A)

2010 F DA X v ZALAE, SUEBEDZE DT ICEMN T oD K5 ick b HRELRPFICH
TEAMERE Y X 7 OFHAE T o CE L b, HERIT, StoFEHEITHT 3 5AEBEHED
OB RUEBE Y X 7 ~D LU D C DRl ik &2 Kk 5 X 5 17 o7z (87 Fed. Reg. at
21337), E£7-5UEBIHOB/RICET 2 7L — L7 — 7 A3 FE L, 722> Td TCFD(Task Force on
Climate-Related Financial Disclosure)28®> 7 L — 47 — 7 |3, % OECAFE TR I, o
SUEBDHERR 7 L — A ERBIIC D AS 2 W IHEAI N T 5 T L, GHG HEHE % HIE - #
B4 2HHEL LCGHG 7ua P ABREE L TE T3 (87 Fed. Reg. at 21343-21345),

SIEBIED YV R 7B X V2D X5 7 ) 27 Z R L 728 IEIC O W T ofEHRIT. RSO ME
S (performance) R 25 I ELZ RIT LR DD TH Y, D, HERFEEHIW I X OGEME
Tz T 2RICEEL VRO THLLEHER D, 2thld, HRERX»LOEFEZXT, 75
EITNT 2 5B Y X 7 OBER M Lo 2R L. B ENRERIRMIEZ LIGo Tw 2
2, BETOLN T2 ERIR IRER 2 o Icihi#E T 200 Tidawna & BB E I, SUEE
RO —EM., WRED S X OEHEZ A LS8 2 720 10BN R BR S5 0S HE 78» L
YlcdH s L # %2 % (87 Fed. Reg. at 21335),

X0 — I R EBERRE IS LT 2 b D TId R K, BEREE. NIECTHRITFOH 251K e
MG OMFr, B XL VEREKERIET 2 &\ 5 SEC DILFFICHE D KIRETH 5 Z L (87 Fed. Reg.
at 21336)

2. BAIROME

- Reg. S-K IC Subpart229.1500 (KUEBHFHR) % #Hi7-1cixiF. HE 1500~1507 #ax
- Reg. S-X IC Article14 (5UERHHEBHTR) ZHi721Ca%lF, 14—01 55, 14— 02 5% Hiax
1934 3% 13 5(a) £ 72 13 15 S&(DITHE VflkBehR 2 17 5 Eiatt o F RS E

1933 ik o B ikm HE

<o¥7a AHR 2022 4 5 H 20 H-[A4E 6 A 17 HIiCiER20>

2 Dan Esty & Todd Cort, Toward Enhanced Corporate Sustainability Disclosure: Making ESG Reporting Serve
Investor Needs, 16 Va. L. & Bus. Rev. 423, 433-438 (2022).
27 Thomas Lee Hazen, Social Issues in the Spotlight; The Increasing Need to Improve Publicly-Held Companies’
CSR and ESG Disclosure, 23 U. Pa. J. Bus. L. 740, 751 (2021).
28 2015 4F 4 Ho G20 MHAEIC X 2 &RZOELISH R (FSB) ~0 SURBIERME IS 5 77k O O fin
EZFC, BAR~OEWRHARAHEYT 2422 75— LTHBEINZD D (87 Fed. Reg. at 21343),
29 SEC, Rel. No. 33-11061; 34-94867 (May 9, 2022).
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3. RUREEHE Y X 7 I 34 F v 20K (1501 5%)
(1) KfxZBE#E Y 27 (Climate-related Risk) DEZE (1500 5(c))

[Eriks OMREMEHER, FEEE L 23 N) 2 —F = —v (Il LB X WIToMEE), I E:

JEM RO FHECI T, BEFE~OH 774 v —, JII'F : BEH~OMIL, 2oL, =¥ F

2 —HF—~fRft, BEOMF, WEHFMIELZDODOUE) It Letke LT, AfEB

MR X VEROBED £ 72 3BIEN RS ENFE] 20 ),

— ZNiE, 2F0DQL@QBEEINS,

OYEE Y A 27 Y 27 [~N) 7r—viko X 5 o BEKRICL > T4EL
Y R7] - REIY 227 R, #im b, TiEo. (kKo X 5 By 72 Kk~
2—VICERT I R7] 2E8T)

QBATY 227 (GURBHE ) 2 2 OEER - WIGICLd 3 720, HELE, 5l b X i o
ZACICEER T 2 B8k E OB #ER, FEEEE 723 ~) a—F o —vic T2 8%EZ
TIEBIE 2 A E RS2 (R~ A D=0 D a2 2 M, REEHELT O i o
DIETIC X ZMET T - WA E) BEEh 5,

¥ TR (2) Q) BHEDPKMEREY 2 7 YL TWw A EIHZFHE L, ) X228

BB DIMEICHEST 5 5 h, HREROHWICHL D, TCFD & [& U~ % 5 (87 Fed.

Reg. at 21359),

(2) B S OBERICET 3 BHOEHE (1501 5:(a)(1))
OFEEI# Y 2 7 ORI E T % & S IR S A v — 3 2 BRI RS0 RES (ex BEER

& VRAIFRBS, [EREE) 2R 7 CEHLWIET 2 RES

QO EA v N—ICRWERE Y 2 7 ICEf A2 H T2 300803050, £ OHEMEONE

k=g i

QRS- 3RBADPEREH Y X 7 IconCHimT 2 T X, YOoX5ICYEY 2%

HoIh, Yo b WoMETEmRT 20280,

OEFEE 2 IREBEN. KRB Y 2 7 2 HEEE, ) 27 ElE X OCMBEOERO

ELTHEZTVEIDEDL, DX ICHEZ TS,

OB 2 IREBAPSURBIHO B2 30E L Cw» 3 252, HAFICH T 7288 2 B4

% J7ik

* SUREBL S O BEFIC O W CEIBI L Td X v (1501 £:(a)(2)),

(3) BEH O - BHOKLENCHE T2 HHOTR (1501 5(b)(1))
OREHE7ZIRAPKEREEY 2 7 0fflis X CEHICEHT 269 250, A25A8% ok
HEDVE ¥ 73R B ORIE S L 0% O FE DR
QLR ODENLEREY 27 2 [ b X3 Fhi &
B LA ODEDHUHER R F 72 I RBXICRUEBE ) 2 7 1o WTlE T 2 0% 4, SHE
* SARELERES O F - HHEICOWTEI LT X (1501 £(b)(2))

iy
il

\

<
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4., SMEEBEY 2 7 DBAR (1502 5. Reg. S-X ® Rulel4—02)

(1) B¥ - BE~OREOHH (1502 %(a))
BEEICHHMICATEEAFEL 5 2 % 5 5 EBLE ) X 2 0FiH, SEC 13 2 Of5#MA T
k@ T Hl1EH (forward-looking information) ICE4M4 3 % £ E 2 TWw5 X5 TH Y, 1933 %
27TA %5 X 1N 1934 4FiE 21E 02 — 7 — N —HUEOBMARH 2 L EZ2Tnwb k57 (87
Fed.Reg.at 21352) ¥, s> & FH - hil] - BRI CER T 7 < EFRE W) % B
A~ LTH L\ (may manifest),

* SR EME S ICOWTHAL T L,

ZNBYHR ) 22 BBATY 2275, BIE, YV 22Z0NE (FEROD2) DN

ORI Y 2 7 DA, K - B O WS hs, YY) 27 O %2 32F 21,
T, EEMTONW G ZONEEED (1502 5:(2)(1) (1)),

QBATY 27 i, B, B, W, BT, §PHZ OB TR0 R & ofEs L O
ZNBED X ) ICEREHEL G250, BED (1502 %) (1) (1)),

(2) BEE - vIVARETL - RBL~OFEDHHA (1502 5(b))

7) kit (1) TRE SN XUEBLE Y 2 7 0B 8E Offlig, vVARETABLORBLICE
ZBBEOE XOBEN S (FEEE, BRF2Er—R 3774V —BXUNY
2—F z—vofthoFH, SUEBLE ) 2 7 OB - #IGOTEE), R - B O, fhoE Ak
o - B BEOWIR]) o (1502 5&(b)).

4) BT o EERK, MEEHEE X 0BRSSO LTEBINRLTHE 2, £
EHICERIN TV EDICOWT O, AMEBLEY 2 7 ol ey 2 R TV F 72 13K
BHZHL D AT Tz i oW T o Bfif 2 B 513 2 BRI X O F#lll (forward-looking) @ F
Re LitiEAmICIZ. Reg. S-X @ Rulel4—02 % 1504 5D EIE, 1506 & HER Y D X 5 1T
EYARAETALEERISCBRT 20280 2 (1502 5(c)

) kit (1) CRE S - 5MEBLE Y R 7 2l MBRERICVE R 5 2 -0 272 3P ER 5 1
ZHITHDLh, EDXHICHEREZELIIE5AZ ) RDODITDOWT, Reg. S-X @ Ruleld —
02 O FUEEHEEAE # & A 77, XEARIC X 0 (narrative) i % 2 & (1502 4:(d)).

) [EBE Y 2 7 DRk DA % EJE L 72 HEE O WS (resilience) D #H, A fEESE )
R DEERFMM L, BIEPE A RETF LD RZEMT 372013 v F U 9T
(1500 4(0)) D X 9 oW FEDH (1502 5:(f), SEC 3. > F ) Ao 23k Tl
THRICU =2 720, EIGEEEEEDt— 7 "= N—HEDOHEHDORENE R H 5 L EZ T3
(87 Fed. Reg. at 21357, 21359),

(3) HEHEMBHERDETL~DILH (Reg. S-X D Rulel4—02)

Reg. S-X @ Rulel4—02 OFIH (RURBIHED LM - it X OBITEBI O E R L) %l

0 7272, SEC fEH$ 5 & 5 ic, @FELSF#ED LD & — 7~ — S —BUEIL TPO 1B L TiTb 72k
OV HIEHRZEHIERIL L LT\ 2720, X DG o8 HE OREIC IZRHEDS )T R\ w2 LI/ 5, 87 Fed.
Reg. at 21352.
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MgsER oFdicidd#l % (Ruleld-

01),

— 1502 §(d) o3RI X 2BR (15 (1) 25827k d DI (#i5E) 35 729 (87 Fed. Reg.

at 21365)

LA R OMBIE H ISR 264 7 (IED &) OAFHEN YEFIEH O REED 1%
Aiiii (less than 1%) TH 5 & Z IR EBEZ & D (Rule 14-02(b)), fEBIEE & & ICHE
R o GEHE, BB E O AFHHD Z e R
JiE LR -« 2 oftt HARSM (Rule14—02(c)) D¥jé (87 Fed. Reg. at 21366-21367)

HAEE | F/SRB | $RA-B | FRCo | BiFEH | wEo | HEO%
DR w# | DopE | AWE
2 R iff $1000 5 | —$30H4 +$7H +$97 $46 57 4.6%
- (] EAEE | SRBLEF S | RRBLEF R | RIEBLERT | SIRBLER (T
DEENPE | OFENRE | EHOEN | EHo ik
o il Dk wEonit | wEond
ERIR §30 7 $775 — $9 i
< B7R % > Ruleld
—02(c)~ ()
O L Kz Oftt ARSI 08 (oK, Tido, kK, BESGR. ##il LA 7% L)

QOBATIEENCBE S 252 (GHG HiHE QWD - BTV 2 7 DREHEMN DS D E)

QWL WRIEZ DM EHARSMIC X 2 ) R 27 2EET 2 720 03 (BRESLHHEEE oA
b, BEDKIER L)

@OBATIEENCBE S 2 X (GHG HEE RO - BT ) 2 7 0B ofEflo 2 2 b, GHG #f
HEHRO B2 30E Lz & &k, 2B L 2FERMER)

O L WKz ofh BRSO EEZ T 2 M Lo RED b
RBRBED Y - HHRIC & D X 5 I EST 3 2 5H)

OBTIEB O ELZ T 2B LR v - AT G4 T 254,
HITRIC & D X 5 ICHET 2 i)

DR Y 2 7 D2 (WBY) 227 LTI A2 DENETRD ) R 2 DFE)
* SUEREE A OBIRZ LT X\, Zokbikiid 2%5 (Rulel4—02()),

- HifE G 250, HikH

RESATIEE S HAAED Y

5. VX 7EHOBR (1503 %)

(1) YR7EHEDO 7 vt XD

BE R LBEEEY 2 7 oFE, i L OEH O ICHET 2 R E (RUEBERS DR
bA) o SEASUEBLE Y 2 7 2RE, fHlis X OEE S FaaFE 2 EHmL T b
2 IR E R DIEHIWNC %> (87 Fed. Reg. at 21361)

7) BiERB LV FREZIconwT, UTFolikzid# (1503 5(a)(1))
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DO V) =2 7kt L CTRMEBE Y 2 7 O HNI s EEE % & 5 HIWT L 72 5>,

QFERREY 2 7 DEFEICH 70 . BUTE 72130 L OB E - 3Bk 2 &5 EFE L
722

QBN BT ) A7 25T 2 1CH 72 b . BE-CHG T 0FLF O &L, Bifffo 2% 72
IS OZEL % &5 EE L 72D

@OFE L 7-RMERE Y 2 7 OfiPH L 8% &5 JHili L 722 %2 &, KEEIEY 2 7 o EEM:
& &9 MWL 722

4) BHOTHEICOWT, UTFoHkE#E (1503 5(a)(2))

OFED Y 27 2R, AL RBEIGT 208G % &5 RE L7725

QFMERE Y 2 7 ~HULS 2 DT 2 18D W T & S ESEIER %2 2 13 72 5

OEREDE ) A7 ZBHT 2 /E% &R 50,

V) L7, A OFHEREFREORENR Y A 2ER L ZAT L - Pl ICHAATNR TN D
AR, EIMBAENT 200N, »2POFE L LUREE Y 2 7 DRl - B H
CETRBA-> T4 bIE, YSBZEHAPIRHEE I L IREEOZHAL D X ) Il
Y& o»BR (1503 (b))

(2) #47etHE (Transit Plan) ®&ikA

AT EHE - - - SRBEEEE ) 2 2 BER D 72 0 DB O WM I X OEREEHE (1500 45(s))

SEC I3, BTRHEAFRICO VLTS TFMEET 20 THE I Lh b, ZOIMNF
kD FHIERICY 722 & LT, #ILIEHHFED £ — 7~ — S —BUE OB O AlGEMEA B 5
L %iB =T 2 (87 Fed. Reg. at 21362, 21363),

7) REEEIKE L CBTRIEARE L Cw 3 5A. 205 (VY 227 ofFE s L OEEICH W
RS A A &) OFH, HECOBREZER L, sHE HIEOEK D 72 DI & - 721TH)
3 (1503 :(c) (1))

A4) BATEHEZ RE L T 254, FEOYHEINY 227 5 X UBITY 27 OB E 72 13#EI5D
720 ED X I ICEHH L T2 Dic 2T o (1503 4:(c)(2))

* SUEBH SRS 2 ER T 2 720 OB ZHA L T3 X v (1503 5:(c)(3))

6. GHG(Greenhouse Gas : {REZIRZ R)PEHIC 25 2 BEDOBR (1504 £)

(1) GHG #iEEZoRroRR

7) BRI h 3 EHR
E BRI CHEAIRE, BTV A7 O TIciZiio, v P o oEW ZFHicE, Zi
WCHES U R 7 2RI C % 2 EER. EeTEOREMEICGEE T 2 IHI. Bl - BEE - TG 025
IC X BB EHE ORI E T 2 ER

— HEROKEFIWICE > TEE (87 Fed. Reg. at 21373)

— EEOFEEFHES LRI N 2 EEMBERERICEEN 2 BEDORFEERE ) L F CFES

ICOWTHIREEZHT (1504 5:(a), HEOMHERD 3225 L, GHG HEH & 238G %S
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REBRL TV B e E 2 O, - MHER L BhEA T CHiEh b TH A 5 225 (87 Fed.
Reg. at 21383),

XGHG #iHRIcow TR a— T oM fiH, ERWAaHREGEECTHSZ GHG v baro
AT 2 b 0o 2 A, —MRABENR I CE Y., EFax oz
Z bbb (87 Fed. Reg. at 21374),

MGHG : LR FE, A2y, HBLER, =7 9LEH, ~M Fuzrtoh—FKry, ~<n

7Aa =Ry, N7 vAtiED 7R (1500 £&(g)
- Z2a—7 1~30RTlE. FEOEEC L 5 X1 GHG 2460 COse (CO, IcHat
L7 D) WO EBHBE, + 7y F iRyt (1504 5(a)(1)(2))

XGHG R & - - - TEH £ 72 1 XM 72 GHG #EHE (1500 45 (h))

4) BROSEHE

- KEUSTHEBE A S - SR IZ 2050 SEE To 4 v b ¥ ufRFOEK (2030 4F F T
HEED) 2HS, F— 74 VA CEITN 2T L IIEIHF©H 2 210 GHG HEH
BEREADEIEZL0BE»T 2720, T2ty e uICHTER AT 220, 56
CBART 2 BEFMRCEE DT 7 4+ Y 27 ZFHIIT 2720, T—22HH (87 Fed.
Reg. at 21376-21377)

CHERIIEKR D LEME D GHG HEHET — 2 #HBA L Twiz2s, —HiE, HiRES M.
BHEMEEZ R\ WT iz &) SEC D Rfi# (87 Fed. Reg. at 21375)

7) Ra—71~3 0EE (1500 £(p)(q) (1)

DR a—71: BEEDFE 72130 T 2 FHEEE 2 64T 2EEN R GHG HHEE

QA2 =7 2 BHEEVIE 72 IR T 2 FHMEIC LV HE I N2 ER KRB WE»

bAT 2 [ 72 GHG HEH &

@zra—73: 2a—72 LWoREN L GHG JEHETHh > T, BEREDNY 2 —F = —

vOJIE - JIITOWEENCENTET 2B D
I EoiEENC X 5 GHG Ofl « SExEABEA LB - — X, ok, {8
DOHER - BE R LICL VAT EH o (1500 5:(r)(1))
* I FOIEHNC X 5 GHG O : BiE21TeH L 7285 o - T - ik - B5e. 2o
B FGIC X BRI 2 LI L VAT 3 (1500 4:(r)(2))

(2) 2a—73 oPHEOFT

7)) —EEHDD & TORRER
Aa—71&R2a—=721F, ZNZnn T ChnRT 3 #5 (1504 5(b)(1))

- PEHL o KB 75 [ E 75 JeIR (EEEHEHIR) 2 b o&thid, ¥ Ticxa—7 1 #kHiE% EPA I
RHLTEY, 7223 -7 2 HHEOREICOVWTY EPA 44 P74 vEHLTw
%

— fhic, Ra—73HHER, HHERNICE, EREON) 2 —F 2 —VICBTE2FHE=FD
EErLAETIOD, BEEHErLMYIRT -2 2%, JHHEEZHEET s LIZ, 2a—7
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1-2X0EELv, 20—/ T, 2a—-73 DRI, £ oathice > T GHG fiiES
RoKES (Bik&ED GHG 7 v b 7Y v F 2RO KE5S) 2did 3 dD%aDT, ZOER
IR D SREE Y R 71 X 2558 2 DR MR 2 Ml o TR L, B - BOE - i
DHENIC X 2 REMHEOHIBICN T 28l 2 ERE X ¢ T2 00 L 5 P RERIFHI T 5
BSIc #8375 (87 Fed. Reg. at 21377-21378). & b o, BEEEABREQN 2 IEH) % S BET
(outsourcing) LTHODRa—7"1 ¢ 2 0PHEZBA S 5174D, Aa—7 3 ORIC
X 0 EREDMRT- 5 (87 Fed. Reg. at 21379),
&7 2— 7 3ORIREHENET 285G (1504 5:(0)(1) /| —HICPIREEEZHE 20
{ - Z o E S EE (materia) TH 2EH 20
- 2a—73 z&T GHG HiEEHIE O HEE 2 3E L 7256
- T2NEBLUVREHBORNEL | HHROBBEEDONNT v 2% L o /4ER (87 Fed. Reg. at
21377)
s NBUBER S i3 2 7 — 7" 3 FR 0@ BRI (1504 45(c)(3))
1) BEHENEETH 354
HIEHD L) »OHIWHIERE T 5,
[E%/r | - -SEC 15k 0¥ (TSC Industries HHk) D78 & [EUEK & T 2,
- HEHMZTOBRICAHEN A RER COHNIZNZEHECTH S LEX 2 FHEANE
WD 28546, TEEAR] 1224725 (87 Fed. Reg. at 21378),
SEC o Wifi# : EHEVEZHIWT 3 2 72 0 ORUEHEHE (72 & 213, 2FEOPEHED 40% U L) (3
BT 7, IR, EWREIRO P D & I A RE R IR O a4 (total mix) THIMT X 1L
LRETHENH, Lo T, 2F0PHEE I ® 2EGBHBHRI/NE WEATH-TDH,
A3 =7 3HBEKRRY) A7 %R L, BEEABHOERNRL 2 >Tn2 L5 Ahaicid, [HE
| CEHT RN D 5, F-EHEWD, REROBITI A7 0 L5 koo
HAET 2D TH DL X, BRVPVETIHREN L ZORENERINLINETH Y,
ATREME DS LB  CHIRAPEEORE S E T UL, [EHE 2 | 14720 5 % (87 Fed. Reg.
at 21379),
v) GHG SRHEEAIBBREZREL TV 554
WERIE, EREVHEERT 27201 HE L e 2T RO - #ils L OCWE~DE%
MRS 2 Z LB TE FREOMIECHEW L 272 2 &3 TE 2, - BREEREZH .
Wb B[ 7)) —v vy vy 7 (greenwashing) | DB IEIC 537D (87 Fed. Reg. at 21379),
x) BIREE (1504 £(c)(2))
Ot EOREHICH W27 =2V — RO, @) 2 —F = — v OF» blE I iz
B, ZOWEINETHERERE 721358 =81 X o THEF(verify) S LT W 2 2520, @
NY 2—F 2= v OEPLWME INLFREENCE T 57— 4, @EROTFHPHE. iE
B 2 3REN T — 2 2 a5, BB, ARINET — 2 =2 BUFHEE. ERO MK
Z OMEGREUANDE =ZE» bBF L 72T — &
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(3) GHG o2 icBi3 2 fx
Aa—=71BX0Ra—720&FEHCT, IWARERIN O GHG HiHE 5 X 085 HA7
O GHG #EHE%#BR, 2a—7 3 2R3 28541k, 2a—7 3 JiiEZHAVCBlickR
(1504 5:(d)(1)(2))
— PHHEER 2L X510k b, 2L 2, HEEMEER A fHIZFEZED B X h %<
CO2e ZHEH L T\ 223, WS OPHEEZ A2 L, AttDOTA B LY %EHﬁiaA—(rate)iP
v, BTV X7 I X 2 EOMREEZ R TR L LT, EROKEHIMWT LD (87 Fed.
Reg. at 21382)
(4) GFGHEHEBEH oA EF BT 2 5H
7) BATREE (1504 %&(e)(1))
- PR E R I Hﬂwtﬁaﬁ BT — &, EERATHEOHH
- LB T, Mk Lo (1500 5c(m)), F¥E LOHPH (1500 5&(0) : THPA 7 4 R
ch)ﬂﬁ%%ﬁm XN OPEHIRO#P) . FHRTTE. SRy —rvEeED L
c 2a—7"1+2 Q5D HW TR DA
* AR L O #IF ¢ BEREIC X o TN £ 72 13 3AL & LT B (operation) D HIFH, HAL I
bR ICHA S 2 SFHFEI L [F CHIFH & 22 0T (1504 k() (2)) ., BHE 12k 4t
»HDFTRCOPHEZED R ITFIIE 7% 57\ (87 Fed. Reg. at 21384),
4) BFOFE—IFIH (1504 5(e)(3))

R EO®IPHIZ, Ra -7 1~3 2B CRUCEHEEZHNE L

s o 2 AR L - o #i 2 E® 72 5, GHG HEHER o Ic % i F T —&
LCwaidnid e by, BEOHYHHEZEBINL . A S ICT 5729 (87 Fed. Reg. at
21385)

V) EHEAE

—MRINICZ T ANLN T L HEHEOFIREAEIX, AXINT»d [HEHEEFE emission
factor : 1500 %k(e) ] OF|H, ex. EPA o fFHE TR GHG v = b VO PHER Y — 1D
WK, WHRICIE, HHED O kw/h, ERAREIE, BERR, HREHZ Y, 200 0ER» L
GHG i E M2 EE HE 2 X 51> T3 (87 Fed. Reg. at 21386), — & DRFFM
T—=2%FHWTH X (1500 %(e)),

* B L 7p 2R L B 2R X, GHG HHEEOFHHEICAHEMN RS Y 2wz 2 &
TE& 5%, H 4O T — 2230 RE TR, ERHEERBFIICRIcEDT, F4
PURIAZS T BAE S D & 723 X 5 358 (87 Fed. Reg. at 21387), %7-. KfE e 2 2R &
MAZREFE A2 -7 3 0PHBORED Vic—EoL vV (IE) O THRRTE 3 (1504
ZE@@W(i)(ii), BERTRTCDT 2% AFT 200 W25 (87 Fed. Reg. at
21388),

*xWINORa -7 IR RL, FEEREO T -2 2P HHERBICHV 56, 20T —
2DV — 2% EFR LT IE R SR (1504 55(e)(5)), = h biffitans 75— 2%
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MAT3 R EEZONSE, 22— 7 31 FICBIRT % (87 Fed. Reg. at 21387),
(5) 2a—73 cEATIERARL -7~ ——HE (1504 £())
7)) BR

FTH L 8GO 25432 GHG iR X 51, N a—Fz—vicsT 937
TAXY—RHEEZFDPOWEH T — 2 2G5 0L <. % OMEIRO BN OHEGE D # L v o T,
Aa—7 3HHEOT — X 2 ET 5 I1ciE, REED Y LHHRICKE {IKFE T2 2%\ (87
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VIII. STATUTORY AUTHORITY

The amendments contained in this release are being proposed under the authority set
forth in Sections 7, 10, 19(a), and 28 of the Securities Act, as amended, and Sections 3(b), 12,
13, 15, 23(a), and 36 of the Exchange Act, as amended.
List of Subjects in 17 CFR Parts 210, 229, 232, 239, and 249

Accountants; Accounting; Administrative practice and procedure, Reporting and
recordkeeping requirements, Securities.

For the reasons set out in the preamble, the Commission is proposing to amend title 17,
chapter II of the Code of Federal Regulations as follows:
PART 210 - FORM AND CONTENT OF AND REQUIREMENTS FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS, SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940, INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940,
AND ENERGY POLICY AND CONSERVATION ACT OF 1975

1. The authority citation for part 210 continues to read as follows:

Authority: 15 U.S.C. 771, 77g, 77h, 77], 77s, 772-2, 77z-3, 77aa(25), 77aa(26),

77nn(25), 77nn(26), 78c, 78j-1, 781, 78m, 78n, 780(d), 78q, 78u-5, 78w, 7811, 78mm,
80a-8, 80a20, 80a-29, 80a-30, 80a-31, 80a-37(a), 80b-3, 80b-11, 7202 and 7262, and sec. 102(c),

Pub. L. 112-106, 126 Stat. 310 (2012), unless otherwise noted.
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2. Amend § 210.8-01 by revising paragraph (b) to read as follows:
§ 210.8-01 General requirements for Article 8

* ok ok Kk

(b) Smaller reporting companies electing to prepare their financial statements with the
form and content required in Article 8 need not apply the other form and content requirements in
17 CFR part 210 (Regulation S-X) with the exception of the following:

(1) The report and qualifications of the independent accountant shall comply with the
requirements of §§ 210.2-01 through 210.2-07 (Article 2); and

(2) The description of accounting policies shall comply with § 210.4-08(n);

(3) Smaller reporting companies engaged in oil and gas producing activities shall follow
the financial accounting and reporting standards specified in § 210.4-10 with respect to such
activities; and

(4) Sections 210.14-01 and 210.14-02 (Article 14).

* ok ok K K

3. Add an undesignated center heading and §§ 210.14-01 and 210.14-02 to read as
follows:

Article 14 — Climate-related disclosure
§ 210.14-01 Climate-related disclosure instructions.

(a) General. A registrant must include disclosure pursuant to § 210.14-02 in any filing
that is required to include disclosure pursuant to subpart 229.1500 of this chapter and that also
requires the registrant to include its audited financial statements. The disclosure pursuant to

§ 210.14-02 must be included in a note to the financial statements included in such filing.
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(b) Definitions. The definitions in § 229.1500 (Item 1500 of Regulation S-K) apply to
this Article 14 of Regulation S-X.

(c) Basis of calculation. When calculating the metrics in this Article 14, except where
otherwise indicated, a registrant must:

(1) Use financial information that is consistent with the scope of the rest of its
consolidated financial statements included in the filing; and

(2) Whenever applicable, apply the same accounting principles that it is required to apply
in preparation of the rest of its consolidated financial statements included in the filing.

(d) Historical periods. Disclosure must be provided for the registrant’s most recently
completed fiscal year, and for the historical fiscal year(s) included in the consolidated financial
statements in the filing (e.g., a registrant that is required to include balance sheets as of the end
of its two most recent fiscal years and income statements and cash flow statements as of the end
of its three most recent fiscal years would be required to disclose two years of the climate-related
metrics that correspond to balance sheet line items and three years of the climate-related metrics
that correspond to income statement or cash flow statement line items).

§ 210.14-02 Climate-related metrics.

(a) Contextual information. Provide contextual information, describing how each
specified metric was derived, including a description of significant inputs and assumptions used,
and, if applicable, policy decisions made by the registrant to calculate the specified metrics.

(b) Disclosure thresholds.

(1) Disclosure of the financial impact on a line item in the registrant’s consolidated
financial statements pursuant to paragraphs (c) and (d) of this section (including any impacts

included pursuant to paragraphs (i) and (j) of this section) is not required if the sum of the
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absolute values of all the impacts on the line item is less than one percent of the total line item
for the relevant fiscal year.

(2) Disclosure of the aggregate amount of expenditure expensed or the aggregate amount
of capitalized costs incurred pursuant to paragraphs (e) and (f) of this section (including any
impacts included pursuant to paragraphs (i) and (j) of this section) is not required if such amount
is less than one percent of the total expenditure expensed or total capitalized costs incurred,
respectively, for the relevant fiscal year.

(c) Financial impacts of severe weather events and other natural conditions. Disclose
the impact of severe weather events and other natural conditions, such as flooding, drought,
wildfires, extreme temperatures, and sea level rise on any relevant line items in the registrant’s
consolidated financial statements during the fiscal years presented. Disclosure must be
presented, at a minimum, on an aggregated line-by-line basis for all negative impacts and,
separately, at a minimum, on an aggregated line-by-line basis for all positive impacts. Impacts
may include, for example:

(1) Changes to revenues or costs from disruptions to business operations or supply
chains;

(2) Impairment charges and changes to the carrying amount of assets (such as inventory,
intangibles, and property, plant and equipment) due to the assets being exposed to severe
weather, flooding, drought, wildfires, extreme temperatures, and sea level rise;

(3) Changes to loss contingencies or reserves (such as environmental reserves or loan loss
allowances) due to impact from severe weather events; and

(4) Changes to total expected insured losses due to flooding or wildfire patterns.
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(d) Financial impacts related to transition activities. Disclose the impact of any efforts
to reduce GHG emissions or otherwise mitigate exposure to transition risks on any relevant line
items in the registrant’s consolidated financial statements during the fiscal years presented.
Disclosure must be presented, at a minimum, on an aggregated line-by-line basis for all negative
impacts and, separately, at a minimum, on an aggregated line-by-line basis for all positive
impacts. Impacts may include, for example:

(1) Changes to revenue or cost due to new emissions pricing or regulations resulting in
the loss of a sales contract;

(2) Changes to operating, investing, or financing cash flow from changes in upstream
costs, such as transportation of raw materials;

(3) Changes to the carrying amount of assets (such as intangibles and property, plant, and
equipment) due to, among other things, a reduction of the asset’s useful life or a change in the
asset’s salvage value by being exposed to transition activities; and

(4) Changes to interest expense driven by financing instruments such as climate-linked
bonds issued where the interest rate increases if certain climate-related targets are not met.

(e) Expenditure to mitigate risks of severe weather events and other natural conditions.
Disclose separately the aggregate amount of expenditure expensed and the aggregate amount of
capitalized costs incurred during the fiscal years presented to mitigate the risks from severe
weather events and other natural conditions, such as flooding, drought, wildfires, extreme
temperatures, and sea level rise. For example, a registrant may be required to disclose the
amount of expense or capitalized costs, as applicable, to increase the resilience of assets or

operations, retire or shorten the estimated useful lives of impacted assets, relocate assets or
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operations at risk, or otherwise reduce the future impact of severe weather events and other
natural conditions on business operations.

(f) Expenditure related to transition activities. Disclose separately the aggregate amount
of expenditure expensed and the aggregate amount of capitalized costs incurred during the fiscal
years presented to reduce GHG emissions or otherwise mitigate exposure to transition risks. For
example, a registrant may be required to disclose the amount of expense or capitalized costs, as
applicable, related to research and development of new technologies, purchase of assets,
infrastructure, or products that are intended to reduce GHG emissions, increase energy
efficiency, offset emissions (purchase of energy credits), or improve other resource efficiency. A
registrant that has disclosed GHG emissions reduction targets or other climate-related
commitments must disclose the expenditures and costs related to meeting its targets,
commitments, and goals, if any, in the fiscal years presented.

(g) Financial estimates and assumptions impacted by severe weather events and other
natural conditions. Disclose whether the estimates and assumptions the registrant used to
produce the consolidated financial statements were impacted by exposures to risks and
uncertainties associated with, or known impacts from, severe weather events and other natural
conditions, such as flooding, drought, wildfires, extreme temperatures, and sea level rise. If yes,
provide a qualitative description of how the development of such estimates and assumptions
were impacted by such events.

(h) Financial estimates and assumptions impacted by transition activities. Disclose
whether the estimates and assumptions the registrant used to produce the consolidated financial
statements were impacted by risks and uncertainties associated with, or known impacts from, a

potential transition to a lower carbon economy or any climate-related targets disclosed by the
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registrant. If yes, provide a qualitative description of how the development of such estimates and
assumptions were impacted by such a potential transition or the registrant’s disclosed climate-
related targets.

(1) Impact of identified climate-related risks. A registrant must also include the impact of
any climate-related risks (separately by physical risks and transition risks, as defined in
§ 229.1500(c) of this chapter), identified by the registrant pursuant to § 229.1502(a) of this
chapter, on any of the financial statement metrics disclosed pursuant to paragraphs (c) through
(h) of this section.

(j) Impact of climate-related opportunities. A registrant may also include the impact of
any opportunities arising from severe weather events and other natural conditions, any impact of
efforts to pursue climate-related opportunities associated with transition activities, and the impact
of any other climate-related opportunities, including those identified by the registrant pursuant to
§ 229.1502(a) of this chapter, on any of the financial statement metrics disclosed pursuant to
paragraphs (c) through (h) of this section. If a registrant makes a policy decision to disclose the
impact of an opportunity, it must do so consistently for the fiscal years presented, including for
each financial statement line item and all relevant opportunities identified by the registrant.
PART 229—STANDARD INSTRUCTIONS FOR FILING FORMS UNDER
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND ENERGY
POLICY AND CONSERVATION ACT OF 1975—REGULATION S-K

4. The authority citation for part 229 continues to read as follows:

Authority: 15 U.S.C. 77e, 771, 77g, 77h, 77, 77k, 77s, 77z-2, 77z-3, 77aa(25), 77aa(26),
77ddd, 77eee, 77ggg, 77hhh, 77iii, 77jjj, 77nnn, 77sss, 78¢, 781, 78], 78j-3, 781, 78m, 78n, 78n-1,

780, 78u-5, 78w, 7811, 78 mm, 80a-8, 80a-9, 80a-20, 80a-29, 80a-30, 80a-31(c), 80a37, 80a-
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38(a), 80a-39, 80b-11 and 7201 et seq.; 18 U.S.C. 1350; sec. 953(b), Pub. L. 111-203, 124 Stat.
1904 (2010); and sec. 102(c), Pub. L. 112-106, 126 Stat. 310 (2012).

5. Add subpart 229.1500 (“Climate-Related Disclosure”) to read as follows:
Subpart 229.1500—Climate-Related Disclosure

Sec.

229.1500 (Item 1500) Definitions.

229.1501 (Item 1501) Governance.

229.1502 (Item 1502) Strategy, business model, and outlook.

229.1503 (Item 1503) Risk management.

229.1504 (Item 1504) GHG emissions metrics.

229.1505 (Item 1505) Attestation of Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions disclosure.

229.1506 (Item 1506) Targets and goals.

229.1507 (Item 1507) Interactive data requirement.

Subpart 229.1500—Climate-Related Disclosure
§ 229.1500 (Item 1500) Definitions.

As used in this subpart, these terms have the following meanings:

(a) Carbon offsets represents an emissions reduction or removal of greenhouse gases
(“GHG”) in a manner calculated and traced for the purpose of offsetting an entity’s GHG
emissions.

(b) Climate-related opportunities means the actual or potential positive impacts of
climate-related conditions and events on a registrant’s consolidated financial statements,
business operations, or value chains, as a whole.

(c) Climate-related risks means the actual or potential negative impacts of climate-related
conditions and events on a registrant’s consolidated financial statements, business operations, or
value chains, as a whole. Climate-related risks include the following:

(1) Physical risks include both acute risks and chronic risks to the registrant’s business

operations or the operations of those with whom it does business.



SURBIERTR SR

(2) Acute risks are event-driven and may relate to shorter term extreme weather events,
such as hurricanes, floods, and tornadoes, among other events.

(3) Chronic risks relate to longer term weather patterns and related effects, such as
sustained higher temperatures, sea level rise, drought, and increased wildfires, as well as related
effects such as decreased arability of farmland, decreased habitability of land, and decreased
availability of fresh water.

(4) Transition risks are the actual or potential negative impacts on a registrant’s
consolidated financial statements, business operations, or value chains attributable to regulatory,
technological, and market changes to address the mitigation of, or adaptation to, climate-related
risks, such as increased costs attributable to changes in law or policy, reduced market demand for
carbon-intensive products leading to decreased prices or profits for such products, the
devaluation or abandonment of assets, risk of legal liability and litigation defense costs,
competitive pressures associated with the adoption of new technologies, reputational impacts
(including those stemming from a registrant’s customers or business counterparties) that might
trigger changes to market behavior, consumer preferences or behavior, and registrant behavior.

(d) Carbon dioxide equivalent (“CO2¢e”’) means the common unit of measurement to
indicate the global warming potential (“GWP”) of each greenhouse gas, expressed in terms of
the GWP of one unit of carbon dioxide (“CO.”).

(e) Emission factor means a multiplication factor allowing actual GHG emissions to be
calculated from available activity data or, if no activity data is available, economic data, to derive
absolute GHG emissions. Examples of activity data include kilowatt-hours of electricity used,
quantity of fuel used, output of a process, hours of operation of equipment, distance travelled,

and floor area of a building.
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(f) Global warming potential (“GWP”’) means a factor describing the global warming
impacts of different greenhouse gases. It is a measure of how much energy will be absorbed in
the atmosphere over a specified period of time as a result of the emission of one ton of a
greenhouse gas, relative to the emissions of one ton of carbon dioxide (CO»).

(g) Greenhouse gases (“GHG”) means carbon dioxide (CO), methane (“CH4”), nitrous
oxide (“N20”), nitrogen trifluoride (“NF3”’), hydrofluorocarbons (“HFCs”), perfluorocarbons
(“PFCs”), and sulfur hexafluoride (“SFs”).

(h) GHG emissions means direct and indirect emissions of greenhouse gases expressed in
metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e), of which:

(1) Direct emissions are GHG emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by a
registrant.

(2) Indirect emissions are GHG emissions that result from the activities of the registrant,
but occur at sources not owned or controlled by the registrant.

(1) GHG intensity (or carbon intensity) means a ratio that expresses the impact of GHG
emissions per unit of economic value (e.g., metric tons of COze per unit of total revenues, using
the registrant’s reporting currency) or per unit of production (e.g., metric tons of COze per
product produced).

(j) Internal carbon price means an estimated cost of carbon emissions used internally
within an organization.

(k) Location means a ZIP code or, in a jurisdiction that does not use ZIP codes, a similar
subnational postal zone or geographic location.

(1) Operational boundaries means the boundaries that determine the direct and indirect

emissions associated with the business operations owned or controlled by a registrant.
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(m) Organizational boundaries means the boundaries that determine the operations
owned or controlled by a registrant for the purpose of calculating its GHG emissions.

(n) Renewable energy credit or certificate (“REC”) means a credit or certificate
representing each megawatt-hour (1 MWh or 1,000 kilowatt-hours) of renewable electricity
generated and delivered to a power grid.

(0) Scenario analysis means a process for identifying and assessing a potential range of
outcomes of various possible future climate scenarios, and how climate-related risks may impact
a registrant’s operations, business strategy, and consolidated financial statements over time. For
example, registrants might use scenario analysis to test the resilience of their strategies under
certain future climate scenarios, such as those that assume global temperature increases of 3 °C,
2 °C, and 1.5 °C above pre-industrial levels.

(p) Scope 1 emissions are direct GHG emissions from operations that are owned or
controlled by a registrant.

(q) Scope 2 emissions are indirect GHG emissions from the generation of purchased or
acquired electricity, steam, heat, or cooling that is consumed by operations owned or controlled
by a registrant.

(r) Scope 3 emissions are all indirect GHG emissions not otherwise included in a
registrant’s Scope 2 emissions, which occur in the upstream and downstream activities of a
registrant’s value chain.

(1) Upstream activities in which Scope 3 emissions might occur include:

(1) A registrant’s purchased goods and services;

(i1) A registrant’s capital goods;

11
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(ii1) A registrant’s fuel and energy related activities not included in Scope 1 or Scope 2
emissions;

(iv) Transportation and distribution of purchased goods, raw materials, and other inputs;

(v) Waste generated in a registrant’s operations;

(vi) Business travel by a registrant’s employees;

(vii) Employee commuting by a registrant’s employees; and

(viii) A registrant’s leased assets related principally to purchased or acquired goods or
services.

(2) Downstream activities in which Scope 3 emissions might occur include:

(1) Transportation and distribution of a registrant’s sold products, goods or other outputs;

(i1) Processing by a third party of a registrant’s sold products;

(ii1) Use by a third party of a registrant’s sold products;

(iv) End-of-life treatment by a third party of a registrant’s sold products;

(v) A registrant’s leased assets related principally to the sale or disposition of goods or
services;

(vi) A registrant’s franchises; and

(vil) Investments by a registrant.

(s) Transition plan means a registrant’s strategy and implementation plan to reduce
climate-related risks, which may include a plan to reduce its GHG emissions in line with its own
commitments or commitments of jurisdictions within which it has significant operations.

(t) Value chain means the upstream and downstream activities related to a registrant’s
operations. Upstream activities in connection with a value chain may include activities by a

party other than the registrant that relate to the initial stages of a registrant’s production of a good
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or service (e.g., materials sourcing, materials processing, and supplier activities). Downstream
activities in connection with a value chain may include activities by a party other than the
registrant that relate to processing materials into a finished product and delivering it or providing
a service to the end user (e.g., transportation and distribution, processing of sold products, use of
sold products, end of life treatment of sold products, and investments).

§ 229.1501 (Item 1501) Governance.

(a)(1) Describe the board of director’s oversight of climate-related risks. Include the
following, as applicable:

(1) The identity of any board members or board committee responsible for the oversight
of climate-related risks;

(i1)) Whether any member of the board of directors has expertise in climate-related risks,
with disclosure in such detail as necessary to fully describe the nature of the expertise;

(ii1) The processes by which the board of directors or board committee discusses climate-
related risks, including how the board is informed about climate-related risks, and the frequency
of such discussion,;

(iv) Whether and how the board of directors or board committee considers climate-related
risks as part of its business strategy, risk management, and financial oversight; and

(v) Whether and how the board of directors sets climate-related targets or goals, and how
it oversees progress against those targets or goals, including the establishment of any interim
targets or goals.

(2) If applicable, a registrant may also describe the board of director’s oversight of

climate-related opportunities.
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(b)(1) Describe management’s role in assessing and managing climate-related risks.
Include the following, as applicable:

(1) Whether certain management positions or committees are responsible for assessing
and managing climate-related risks and, if so, the identity of such positions or committees and
the relevant expertise of the position holders or members in such detail as necessary to fully
describe the nature of the expertise;

(i1) The processes by which such positions or committees are informed about and monitor
climate-related risks; and

(i1i1)) Whether and how frequently such positions or committees report to the board or a
committee of the board on climate-related risks.

(2) If applicable, a registrant may also describe management’s role in assessing and
managing climate-related opportunities.

§ 229.1502 (Item 1502) Strategy, business model, and outlook.

(a) Describe any climate-related risks reasonably likely to have a material impact on the
registrant, including on its business or consolidated financial statements, which may manifest
over the short, medium, and long term. If applicable, a registrant may also disclose the actual
and potential impacts of any climate-related opportunities when responding to any of the
provisions in this section.

(1) Discuss such climate-related risks, specifying whether they are physical or transition
risks and the nature of the risks presented.

(1) For physical risks, describe the nature of the risk, including if it may be categorized as
an acute or chronic risk, and the location and nature of the properties, processes, or operations

subject to the physical risk.
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(A) If a risk concerns the flooding of buildings, plants, or properties located in flood
hazard areas, disclose the percentage of those assets (square meters or acres) that are located in
flood hazard areas in addition to their location.

(B) If a risk concerns the location of assets in regions of high or extremely high water
stress, disclose the amount of assets (e.g., book value and as a percentage of total assets) located
in those regions in addition to their location. Also disclose the percentage of the registrant’s total
water usage from water withdrawn in those regions.

(i1) For transition risks, describe the nature of the risk, including whether it relates to
regulatory, technological, market (including changing consumer, business counterparty, and
investor preferences), liability, reputational, or other transition-related factors, and how those
factors impact the registrant. A registrant that has significant operations in a jurisdiction that has
made a GHG emissions reduction commitment may be exposed to transition risks related to the
implementation of the commitment.

(2) Describe how the registrant defines short-, medium-, and long-term time horizons,
including how it takes into account or reassesses the expected useful life of the registrant’s assets
and the time horizons for the registrant’s climate-related planning processes and goals.

(b) Describe the actual and potential impacts of any climate-related risks identified in
response to paragraph (a) of this section on the registrant’s strategy, business model, and
outlook.

(1) Include impacts on the registrant’s:

(1) Business operations, including the types and locations of its operations;

(i1) Products or services;

(ii1) Suppliers and other parties in its value chain;

15
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(iv) Activities to mitigate or adapt to climate-related risks, including adoption of new
technologies or processes;

(v) Expenditure for research and development; and

(vi) Any other significant changes or impacts.

(2) Include the time horizon for each described impact (i.e., in the short, medium, or long
term, as defined in response to paragraph (a) of this section).

(c) Discuss whether and how any impacts described in response to paragraph (b) of this
section are considered as part of the registrant’s business strategy, financial planning, and capital
allocation. Provide both current and forward-looking disclosures that facilitate an understanding
of whether the implications of the identified climate-related risks have been integrated into the
registrant’s business model or strategy, including how any resources are being used to mitigate
climate-related risks. Include in this discussion how any of the metrics referenced in § 210.14-
02 of this chapter and § 229.1504 or any of the targets referenced in § 229.1506 relate to the
registrant’s business model or business strategy. If applicable, include in this discussion the role
that carbon offsets or RECs play in the registrant’s climate-related business strategy.

(d) Provide a narrative discussion of whether and how any climate-related risks described
in response to paragraph (a) of this section have affected or are reasonably likely to affect the
registrant’s consolidated financial statements. The discussion should include any of the climate-
related metrics referenced in § 210.14-02 of this chapter that demonstrate that the identified
climate-related risks have had a material impact on reported financial condition or operations.

(e)(1) If a registrant maintains an internal carbon price, disclose:

(1) The price in units of the registrant’s reporting currency per metric ton of COze;

16
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(i1) The total price, including how the total price is estimated to change over time, if
applicable;

(ii1) The boundaries for measurement of overall COze on which the total price is based if
different from the GHG emission organizational boundary required pursuant to § 229.1504(¢e)(2);
and

(iv) The rationale for selecting the internal carbon price applied.

(2) Describe how the registrant uses any internal carbon price described in response to
paragraph (e)(1) of this section to evaluate and manage climate-related risks.

(3) If a registrant uses more than one internal carbon price, it must provide the disclosures
required by this section for each internal carbon price, and disclose its reasons for using different
prices.

(f) Describe the resilience of the registrant’s business strategy in light of potential future
changes in climate-related risks. Describe any analytical tools, such as scenario analysis, that the
registrant uses to assess the impact of climate-related risks on its business and consolidated
financial statements, and to support the resilience of its strategy and business model. If the
registrant uses scenario analysis to assess the resilience of its business strategy to climate-related
risks, disclose the scenarios considered (e.g., an increase of no greater than 3 °C, 2 °C, or 1.5 °C
above pre-industrial levels), including parameters, assumptions, and analytical choices, and the
projected principal financial impacts on the registrant’s business strategy under each scenario.
The disclosure should include both qualitative and quantitative information.

§ 229.1503 (Item 1503) Risk management.
(a) Describe any processes the registrant has for identifying, assessing, and managing

climate-related risks. If applicable, a registrant may also describe any processes for identifying,
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assessing, and managing climate-related opportunities when responding to any of the provisions
in this section.

(1) When describing any processes for identifying and assessing climate-related risks,
disclose, as applicable, how the registrant:

(1) Determines the relative significance of climate-related risks compared to other risks;

(i1) Considers existing or likely regulatory requirements or policies, such as GHG
emissions limits, when identifying climate-related risks;

(ii1) Considers shifts in customer or counterparty preferences, technological changes, or
changes in market prices in assessing potential transition risks; and

(iv) Determines the materiality of climate-related risks, including how it assesses the
potential scope and impact of an identified climate-related risk, such as the risks identified in
response to § 229.1502.

(2) When describing any processes for managing climate-related risks, disclose, as
applicable, how the registrant:

(1) Decides whether to mitigate, accept, or adapt to a particular risk;

(i1) Prioritizes whether to address climate-related risks; and

(ii1) Determines how to mitigate any high priority risks.

(b) Disclose whether and how any processes described in response to paragraph (a) of
this section are integrated into the registrant’s overall risk management system or processes. If a
separate board or management committee is responsible for assessing and managing climate-
related risks, a registrant should disclose how that committee interacts with the registrant’s board

or management committee governing risks.
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(c)(1) If the registrant has adopted a transition plan as part of its climate-related risk
management strategy, describe the plan, including the relevant metrics and targets used to
identify and manage any physical and transition risks. To allow for an understanding of the
registrant’s progress to meet the plan’s targets or goals over time, a registrant must update its
disclosure about the transition plan each fiscal year by describing the actions taken during the
year to achieve the plan’s targets or goals.

(2) If the registrant has adopted a transition plan, discuss, as applicable:

(1) How the registrant plans to mitigate or adapt to any identified physical risks, including
but not limited to those concerning energy, land, or water use and management;

(i1) How the registrant plans to mitigate or adapt to any identified transition risks,
including the following:

(A) Laws, regulations, or policies that:

(1) Restrict GHG emissions or products with high GHG footprints, including emissions
caps; or

(2) Require the protection of high conservation value land or natural assets;

(B) Imposition of a carbon price; and

(C) Changing demands or preferences of consumers, investors, employees, and business
counterparties.

(3) If applicable, a registrant that has adopted a transition plan as part of its climate-
related risk management strategy may also describe how it plans to achieve any identified
climate-related opportunities, such as:

(1) The production of products that may facilitate the transition to a lower carbon

economy, such as low emission modes of transportation and supporting infrastructure;
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(i1) The generation or use of renewable power;

(ii1) The production or use of low waste, recycled, or other consumer products that
require less carbon intensive production methods;

(iv) The setting of conservation goals and targets that would help reduce GHG emissions;
and

(v) The provision of services related to any transition to a lower carbon economy.

§ 229.1504 (Item 1504) GHG emissions metrics.

(a) General. Disclose a registrant’s GHG emissions, as defined in § 229.1500(h), for its
most recently completed fiscal year, and for the historical fiscal years included in its
consolidated financial statements in the filing, to the extent such historical GHG emissions data
is reasonably available.

(1) For each required disclosure of a registrant’s Scopes 1, 2, and 3 emissions, disclose
the emissions both disaggregated by each constituent greenhouse gas, as specified in
§ 229.1500(g), and in the aggregate, expressed in terms of COxe.

(2) When disclosing a registrant’s Scopes 1, 2, and 3 emissions, exclude the impact of
any purchased or generated offsets.

(b) Scopes 1 and 2 emissions.

(1) Disclose the registrant’s total Scope 1 emissions and total Scope 2 emissions
separately after calculating them from all sources that are included in the registrant’s
organizational and operational boundaries.

(2) When calculating emissions pursuant to paragraph (b)(1) of this section, a registrant

may exclude emissions from investments that are not consolidated, are not proportionately

20



SURBIERTR SR

consolidated, or that do not qualify for the equity method of accounting in the registrant’s
consolidated financial statements.

(c) Scope 3 emissions.

(1) Disclose the registrant’s total Scope 3 emissions if material. A registrant must also
disclose its Scope 3 emissions if it has set a GHG emissions reduction target or goal that includes
its Scope 3 emissions. Disclosure of a registrant’s Scope 3 emissions must be separate from
disclosure of its Scopes 1 and 2 emissions. If required to disclose Scope 3 emissions, identify
the categories of upstream or downstream activities that have been included in the calculation of
the Scope 3 emissions. If any category of Scope 3 emissions is significant to the registrant,
identify all such categories and provide Scope 3 emissions data separately for them, together
with the registrant’s total Scope 3 emissions.

(2) If required to disclose Scope 3 emissions, describe the data sources used to calculate
the registrant’s Scope 3 emissions, including the use of any of the following:

(1) Emissions reported by parties in the registrant’s value chain, and whether such reports
were verified by the registrant or a third party, or unverified,

(i1) Data concerning specific activities, as reported by parties in the registrant’s value
chain; and

(ii1) Data derived from economic studies, published databases, government statistics,
industry associations, or other third-party sources outside of a registrant’s value chain, including
industry averages of emissions, activities, or economic data.

(3) A smaller reporting company, as defined by §§ 229.10(f)(1), 230.405, and
240.12b-2 of this chapter, is exempt from, and need not comply with, the disclosure requirements

of this paragraph (c).
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(d) GHG intensity.

(1) Using the sum of Scope 1 and 2 emissions, disclose GHG intensity in terms of metric
tons of COxe per unit of total revenue (using the registrant’s reporting currency) and per unit of
production relevant to the registrant’s industry for each fiscal year included in the consolidated
financial statements. Disclose the basis for the unit of production used.

(2) If Scope 3 emissions are otherwise disclosed, separately disclose GHG intensity using
Scope 3 emissions only.

(3) If a registrant has no revenue or unit of production for a fiscal year, it must disclose
another financial measure of GHG intensity or another measure of GHG intensity per unit of
economic output, as applicable, with an explanation of why the particular measure was used.

(4) A registrant may also disclose other measures of GHG intensity, in addition to metric
tons of COze per unit of total revenue (using the registrant’s reporting currency) and per unit of
production, if it includes an explanation of why a particular measure was used and why the
registrant believes such measure provides useful information to investors.

(e) Methodology and related instructions.

(1) A registrant must describe the methodology, significant inputs, and significant
assumptions used to calculate its GHG emissions. The description of the registrant’s
methodology must include the registrant’s organizational boundaries, operational boundaries
(including any approach to categorization of emissions and emissions sources), calculation
approach (including any emission factors used and the source of the emission factors), and any
calculation tools used to calculate the GHG emissions. A registrant’s description of its approach

to categorization of emissions and emissions sources should explain how it determined the
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emissions to include as direct emissions, for the purpose of calculating its Scope 1 emissions,
and indirect emissions, for the purpose of calculating its Scope 2 emissions.

(2) The organizational boundary and any determination of whether a registrant owns or
controls a particular source for GHG emissions must be consistent with the scope of entities,
operations, assets, and other holdings within its business organization as those included in, and
based upon the same set of accounting principles applicable to, the registrant’s consolidated
financial statements.

(3) A registrant must use the same organizational boundaries when calculating its Scope
1 emissions and Scope 2 emissions. If required to disclose Scope 3 emissions, a registrant must
also apply the same organizational boundaries used when determining its Scopes 1 and 2
emissions as an initial step in identifying the sources of indirect emissions from activities in its
value chain over which it lacks ownership and control and which must be included in the
calculation of its Scope 3 emissions. Once a registrant has determined its organizational and
operational boundaries, a registrant must be consistent in its use of those boundaries when
calculating its GHG emissions.

(4) A registrant may use reasonable estimates when disclosing its GHG emissions as long
as it also describes the assumptions underlying, and its reasons for using, the estimates.

(1) When disclosing its GHG emissions for its most recently completed fiscal year, if
actual reported data is not reasonably available, a registrant may use a reasonable estimate of its
GHG emissions for its fourth fiscal quarter, together with actual, determined GHG emissions
data for the first three fiscal quarters, as long as the registrant promptly discloses in a subsequent
filing any material difference between the estimate used and the actual, determined GHG

emissions data for the fourth fiscal quarter.
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(i1) In addition to the use of reasonable estimates, a registrant may present its estimated
Scope 3 emissions in terms of a range as long as it discloses its reasons for using the range and
the underlying assumptions.

(5) A registrant must disclose, to the extent material and as applicable, any use of third-
party data when calculating its GHG emissions, regardless of the particular scope of emissions.
When disclosing the use of third-party data, it must identify the source of such data and the
process the registrant undertook to obtain and assess such data.

(6) A registrant must disclose any material change to the methodology or assumptions
underlying its GHG emissions disclosure from the previous fiscal year.

(7) A registrant must disclose, to the extent material and as applicable, any gaps in the
data required to calculate its GHG emissions. A registrant’s GHG emissions disclosure should
provide investors with a reasonably complete understanding of the registrant’s GHG emissions in
each scope of emissions. If a registrant discloses any data gaps encountered when calculating its
GHG emissions, it must also discuss whether it used proxy data or another method to address
such gaps, and how its accounting for any data gaps has affected the accuracy or completeness of
its GHG emissions disclosure.

(8) When determining whether its Scope 3 emissions are material, and when disclosing
those emissions, in addition to emissions from activities in its value chain, a registrant must
include GHG emissions from outsourced activities that it previously conducted as part of its own
operations, as reflected in the financial statements for the periods covered in the filing.

(9) If required to disclose Scope 3 emissions, when calculating those emissions, if there

was any significant overlap in the categories of activities producing the Scope 3 emissions, a
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registrant must describe the overlap, how it accounted for the overlap, and the effect on its
disclosed total Scope 3 emissions.

(f) Liability for Scope 3 emissions disclosures.

(1) A statement within the coverage of paragraph (f)(2) of this section that is made by or
on behalf of a registrant is deemed not to be a fraudulent statement (as defined in paragraph
(H)(3) of this section), unless it is shown that such statement was made or reaffirmed without a
reasonable basis or was disclosed other than in good faith.

(2) This paragraph (f) applies to any statement regarding Scope 3 emissions that is
disclosed pursuant to §§ 229.1500 through 229.1506 and made in a document filed with the
Commission.

(3) For the purpose of this paragraph (f), the term fraudulent statement shall mean a
statement that is an untrue statement of material fact, a statement false or misleading with respect
to any material fact, an omission to state a material fact necessary to make a statement not
misleading, or that constitutes the employment of a manipulative, deceptive, or fraudulent
device, contrivance, scheme, transaction, act, practice, course of business, or an artifice to
defraud as those terms are used in the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 or the rules or regulations promulgated thereunder.

§ 229.1505 Attestation of Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions disclosure.

(a) Attestation.

(1) A registrant that is required to provide Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions disclosure
pursuant to § 229.1504 and that is an accelerated filer or a large accelerated filer must include an
attestation report covering such disclosure in the relevant filing. For filings made by an

accelerated filer or a large accelerated filer for the second and third fiscal years after the

25



SURBIERTR SR

compliance date for § 229.1504, the attestation engagement must, at a minimum, be at a limited
assurance level and cover the registrant’s Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions disclosure. For filings
made by an accelerated filer or large accelerated filer for the fourth fiscal year after the
compliance date for § 229.1504 and thereafter, the attestation engagement must be at a
reasonable assurance level and, at a minimum, cover the registrant’s Scope 1 and Scope 2
emissions disclosures.

(2) Any attestation report required under this section must be provided pursuant to
standards that are publicly available at no cost and are established by a body or group that has
followed due process procedures, including the broad distribution of the framework for public
comment. An accelerated filer or a large accelerated filer obtaining voluntary assurance prior to
the first required fiscal year must comply with subparagraph (e) of this section. Voluntary
assurance obtained by an accelerated filer or a large accelerated filer thereafter must follow the
requirements of paragraphs (b) through (d) of this section and must use the same attestation
standard as the required assurance over Scope 1 and Scope 2.

(b) GHG emissions attestation provider. The GHG emissions attestation report required
by paragraph (a) of this section must be prepared and signed by a GHG emissions attestation
provider. A GHG emissions attestation provider means a person or a firm that has all of the
following characteristics:

(1) Is an expert in GHG emissions by virtue of having significant experience in
measuring, analyzing, reporting, or attesting to GHG emissions. Significant experience means
having sufficient competence and capabilities necessary to:

(1) Perform engagements in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal

and regulatory requirements; and
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(i1) Enable the service provider to issue reports that are appropriate under the
circumstances.

(2) Is independent with respect to the registrant, and any of its affiliates, for whom it is
providing the attestation report, during the attestation and professional engagement period.

(1) A GHG emissions attestation provider is not independent if such attestation provider is
not, or a reasonable investor with knowledge of all relevant facts and circumstances would
conclude that such attestation provider is not, capable of exercising objective and impartial
judgment on all issues encompassed within the attestation provider’s engagement.

(i1) In determining whether a GHG emissions attestation provider is independent, the
Commission will consider:

(A) Whether a relationship or the provision of a service creates a mutual or conflicting
interest between the attestation provider and the registrant (or any of its affiliates), places the
attestation provider in the position of attesting such attestation provider’s own work, results in
the attestation provider acting as management or an employee of the registrant (or any of its
affiliates), or places the attestation provider in a position of being an advocate for the registrant
(or any of its affiliates); and

(B) All relevant circumstances, including all financial or other relationships between the
attestation provider and the registrant (or any of its affiliates), and not just those relating to
reports filed with the Commission.

(ii1) The term “affiliates” as used in this section has the meaning provided in 17 CFR
210.2-01, except that references to “audit” are deemed to be references to the attestation services

provided pursuant to this section.
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(iv) The term “attestation and professional engagement period” as used in this section
means both:

(A) The period covered by the attestation report; and

(B) The period of the engagement to attest to the registrant’s GHG emissions or to
prepare a report filed with the Commission (“the professional engagement period”). The
professional engagement period begins when the GHG attestation service provider either signs
an initial engagement letter (or other agreement to attest a registrant’s GHG emissions) or begins
attest procedures, whichever is earlier.

(c) Attestation report requirements. The GHG emissions attestation report required by
paragraph (a) of this section must be included in the separately captioned “Climate-Related
Disclosure” section in the filing. The form and content of the attestation report must follow the
requirements set forth by the attestation standard (or standards) used by the GHG emissions
attestation provider. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at a minimum the report must include the
following:

(1) An identification or description of the subject matter or assertion being reported on,
including the point in time or period of time to which the measurement or evaluation of the
subject matter or assertion relates;

(2) An identification of the criteria against which the subject matter was measured or
evaluated;

(3) A statement that identifies the level of assurance provided and describes the nature of
the engagement;

(4) A statement that identifies the attestation standard (or standards) used;
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(5) A statement that describes the registrant’s responsibility to report on the subject
matter or assertion being reported on;

(6) A statement that describes the attestation provider’s responsibilities in connection
with the preparation of the attestation report;

(7) A statement that the attestation provider is independent, as required by paragraph (a)
of this section;

(8) For a limited assurance engagement, a description of the work performed as a basis
for the attestation provider’s conclusion;

(9) A statement that describes significant inherent limitations, if any, associated with the
measurement or evaluation of the subject matter against the criteria;

(10) The GHG emissions attestation provider’s conclusion or opinion, based on the
applicable attestation standard(s) used;

(11) The signature of the attestation provider (whether by an individual or a person
signing on behalf of the attestation provider’s firm);

(12) The city and state where the attestation report has been issued; and

(13) The date of the report.

(d) Additional disclosures by the registrant. In addition to including the GHG emissions
attestation report required by paragraph (a) of this section, a large accelerated filer and an
accelerated filer must disclose the following information within the separately captioned
“Climate-Related Disclosure” section in the filing, after requesting relevant information from

any GHG emissions attestation provider as necessary:
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(1) Whether the attestation provider has a license from any licensing or accreditation
body to provide assurance, and if so, identify the licensing or accreditation body, and whether the
attestation provider is a member in good standing of that licensing or accreditation body;

(2) Whether the GHG emissions attestation engagement is subject to any oversight
inspection program, and if so, which program (or programs); and

(3) Whether the attestation provider is subject to record-keeping requirements with
respect to the work performed for the GHG emissions attestation engagement and, if so, identify
the record-keeping requirements and the duration of those requirements.

(e) Disclosure of voluntary attestation. A registrant that is not required to include a GHG
emissions attestation report pursuant to paragraph (a) of this section must disclose within the
separately captioned “Climate-Related Disclosure” section in the filing the following information
if the registrant’s GHG emissions disclosures were subject to third-party attestation or
verification:

(1) Identify the provider of such attestation or verification;

(2) Describe the attestation or verification standard used;

(3) Describe the level and scope of attestation or verification provided,

(4) Briefly describe the results of the attestation or verification;

(5) Disclose whether the third-party service provider has any other business relationships
with or has provided any other professional services to the registrant that may lead to an
impairment of the service provider’s independence with respect to the registrant; and

(6) Disclose any oversight inspection program to which the service provider is subject
(e.g., the AICPA’s peer review program).

§ 229.1506 (Item 1506) Targets and goals.
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(a)(1) A registrant must provide disclosure pursuant to this section if it has set any targets
or goals related to the reduction of GHG emissions, or any other climate-related target or goal
(e.g., regarding energy usage, water usage, conservation or ecosystem restoration, or revenues
from low-carbon products) such as actual or anticipated regulatory requirements, market
constraints, or other goals established by a climate-related treaty, law, regulation, policy, or
organization.

(2) A registrant may provide the disclosure required by this section as part of its
disclosure in response to § 229.1502 or § 229.1503.

(b) If the registrant has set climate-related targets or goals, disclose the targets or goals,
including, as applicable, a description of:

(1) The scope of activities and emissions included in the target;

(2) The unit of measurement, including whether the target is absolute or intensity based;

(3) The defined time horizon by which the target is intended to be achieved, and whether
the time horizon is consistent with one or more goals established by a climate-related treaty, law,
regulation, policy, or organization;

(4) The defined baseline time period and baseline emissions against which progress will
be tracked with a consistent base year set for multiple targets;

(5) Any interim targets set by the registrant; and

(6) How the registrant intends to meet its climate-related targets or goals. For example,
for a target or goal regarding net GHG emissions reduction, the discussion could include a
strategy to increase energy efficiency, transition to lower carbon products, purchase carbon

offsets or RECs, or engage in carbon removal and carbon storage.
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(c) Disclose relevant data to indicate whether the registrant is making progress toward
meeting the target or goal and how such progress has been achieved. A registrant must update
this disclosure each fiscal year by describing the actions taken during the year to achieve its
targets or goals.

(d) If carbon offsets or RECs have been used as part of a registrant’s plan to achieve
climate-related targets or goals, disclose the amount of carbon reduction represented by the
offsets or the amount of generated renewable energy represented by the RECS, the source of the
offsets or RECs, a description and location of the underlying projects, any registries or other
authentication of the offsets or RECs, and the cost of the offsets or RECs.

§ 229.1507 (Item 1507) Interactive data requirement.

Provide the disclosure required by this Subpart 1500 in an Interactive Data File as
required by § 232.405 of this chapter (Rule 405 of Regulation S-T) in accordance with the
EDGAR Filer Manual.

PART 232— REGULATION S-T—GENERAL RULES AND REGULATIONS FOR
ELECTRONIC FILINGS

6. The general authority citation for part 232 continues to read as follows:

Authority: 15 U.S.C. 77¢, 771, 77g, 77h, 77], 77s(a), 77z-3, 77sss(a), 78c(b), 781, 78m,
78n, 780(d), 78w(a), 7811, 80a-6(c), 80a-8, 80a-29, 80a-30, 80a-37, 7201 et seq.; and 18 U.S.C.
1350, unless otherwise noted.

* ok ok ok %

7. Amend §232.405 by adding paragraphs (b)(1)(iii), (b)(3)(1)(C), and (b)(4) as follows:

§232.405 Interactive Data File submissions.

% ok ok sk sk
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(b) * * *
(1) % * *
(ii1) As applicable, the disclosure set forth in paragraph (4) of this section.
* ok ok Kk
(3) * * *
(i) * * *
(C) The disclosure set forth in paragraph (4) of this section.
(4) An Interactive Data File must consist of the disclosure provided under 17 CFR 229
(Regulation S-K) and related provisions that is required to be tagged, including, as applicable:
(1) The climate-related information required by Subpart 1500 of Regulation S-K
(§§ 229.1500 through 229.1507 of this chapter).
* ok ok Kk
PART 239—FORMS PRESCRIBED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
8. The general authority citation for part 239 continues to read as follows:

Authority: 15 U.S.C. 77¢, 771, 77g, 77h, 77], 77s, 77z-2, 77z-3, 77sss, 78c, 78,

78m,78n, 780(d), 780-7 note, 78u-5, 78w(a), 78!/, 78mm, 80a-2(a), 80a-3, 80a-8, 80a-9, 80a-10,

80a-13, 80a-24, 80a-26, 80a-29, 80a-30, and 80a-37; and sec. 107, Pub. L. 112-106, 126 Stat.

312, unless otherwise noted.

%k ok ok sk sk

9. Amend Form S-1 (referenced in § 239.11) by adding Item 11(0) to Part I to read as

follows:

Note: The text of Form S-1 does not, and these amendments will not, appear in the Code of

Federal Regulations.
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FORM S-1

k ok ok sk sk

PART [-INFORMATION REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

% ok ok sk sk

Item 11. Information with Respect to the Registrant.

K ok ok sk sk

(o) Information required by Subpart 1500 of Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.1500 through
229.1507), in a part of the registration statement that is separately captioned as Climate-Related
Disclosure. Pursuant to Rule 411 (17 CFR 230.411) and General Instruction VII of this form, a
registrant may incorporate by reference disclosure from other parts of the registration statement
(e.g., Risk Factors, Business, Management’s Discussion and Analysis, or the financial
statements) or from a separately filed annual report or other periodic report into the Climate-
Related Disclosure item if it is responsive to the topics specified in Items 1500 through 1507 of
Regulation S-K.

* ok ok Kk

10. Amend Form S-11 (referenced in § 239.18) by adding Item 9 to Part I to read as
follows:

Note: The text of Form S-11 does not, and these amendments will not, appear in the Code
of Federal Regulations.
FORM S-11

% ok ok sk sk

PART I. INFORMATION REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

% ok ok sk sk
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Item 9. Climate-related disclosure. Provide the information required by Subpart 1500 of
Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.1500 through 229.1507), in a part of the registration statement that
is separately captioned as Climate-Related Disclosure. Pursuant to Rule 411 (17 CFR 230.411)
and General Instruction H of this form, a registrant may incorporate by reference disclosure from
other parts of the registration statement (e.g., Risk Factors, Management’s Discussion and
Analysis, or the financial statements) or from a separately filed annual report or other periodic
report into the Climate-Related Disclosure item if it is responsive to the topics specified in Items
1500 through 1507 of Regulation S-K.

* ok ok Kk

11. Amend Form S-4 (referenced in § 239.25) by:

a. Adding paragraph (k) to Item 14 to Part I; and

b. Adding paragraph (b)(11) to Item 17 to Part L.

The additions read as follows:

Note: The text of Form S-4 does not, and these amendments will not, appear in the Code of
Federal Regulations.
FORM S-4

* ok ok K K

PART I

INFORMATION REQUIRED IN THE PROSPECTUS

% ok ok ok sk

Item 14. Information with Respect to Registrants Other Than S-3 Registrants.

% ok ok sk sk
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(k) Information required by Subpart 1500 of Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.1500 through
229.1507), in a part of the registration statement that is separately captioned as Climate-Related
Disclosure. Pursuant to Rule 411 (17 CFR 230.411) a registrant may incorporate by reference
disclosure from other parts of the registration statement (e.g., Risk Factors, Description of
Business, Management’s Discussion and Analysis, or the financial statements) into the Climate-
Related Disclosure item if it is responsive to the topics specified in Items 1500 through 1507 of
Regulation S-K.

% ok ok sk sk

Item 17. Information with Respect to Companies Other Than S-3 Companies.

* ok K kK

(b) * * *

(11) Information required by Items 1500-1507 of Regulation S-K (17 CFR § 229.1500
through § 229.1507), in a part of the registration statement that is separately captioned as
Climate-Related Disclosure of Company Being Acquired.

* ok ok K K

12. Amend Form F-4 (referenced in § 239.34) by:

a. Adding paragraph (k) to Item 14 to Part I; and

b. Amending paragraph (3) to Item 17(b) to Part L.

The additions read as follows:

-Note: The text of Form F-4 does not, and these amendments will not, appear in the Code
of Federal Regulations.

FORM F-+4

% ok ok sk sk
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PARTI
INFORMATION REQUIRED IN THE PROSPECTUS

% ok ok sk sk

Item 14. Information With Respect to Foreign Registrants Other Than F-3 Registrants.

% ok ok sk o3k

(k) Item 3.E of Form 20-F, climate-related disclosure.

% ok ok sk sk

Item 17. Information With Respect to Foreign Companies Other Than F-3 Companies.

% ok ok sk sk

(b) * * *

(3) Item 3.E of Form 20-F, climate-related disclosure;

* ok ok K K
PART 249—FORMS, SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

13. The authority citation for part 249 continues to read as follows:

Authority: 15 U.S.C. 78a et seq. and 7201 et seq.; 12 U.S.C. 5461 et seq.; 18 U.S.C.
1350; Sec. 953(b) Pub. L. 111-203, 124 Stat. 1904; Sec. 102(a)(3) Pub. L. 112-106, 126 Stat. 309
(2012), Sec. 107 Pub. L. 112-106, 126 Stat. 313 (2012), Sec. 72001 Pub. L. 114-94, 129 Stat.
1312 (2015), and secs. 2 and 3 Pub. L. 116-222, 134 Stat. 1063 (2020), unless otherwise noted.

* ok ok K K

Section 249.220f is also issued under secs. 3(a), 202, 208, 302, 306(a), 401(a), 401(b),
406 and 407, Pub. L. 107-204, 116 Stat. 745, and secs. 2 and 3, Pub. L. 116-222, 134 Stat. 1063.

Section 249.308a is also issued under secs. 3(a) and 302, Pub. L. 107-204, 116 Stat. 745.

% ok ok sk sk
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Section 249.310 is also issued under secs. 3(a), 202, 208, 302, 406 and 407, Pub. L. 107-
204, 116 Stat. 745.

* ok ok Kk

14. Amend Form 10 (referenced in § 249.210) by adding Item 3.A (“Climate-Related
Disclosure”) to read as follows:
Note: The text of Form 10 does not, and these amendments will not, appear in the Code of
Federal Regulations.

FORM 10

* ok ok Kk

Item 3.A Climate-Related Disclosure. Provide the information required by Subpart 1500
of Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.1500 through 229.1507), in a part of the registration statement
that is separately captioned as Climate-Related Disclosure. Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 12b-
23 (17 CFR 240.12b-23) and General Instruction F of this form, a registrant may incorporate by
reference disclosure from other parts of the registration statement (e.g., Risk Factors, Business,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, or the financial statements) into the Climate-Related
Disclosure item if it is responsive to the topics specified in Item 1500 through 1507 of
Regulation S-K.

* ok ok K K

15. Amend Form 20-F (referenced in § 249.220f) by adding Item 3.E (“Climate-related
disclosure”) to Part I to read as follows:
Note: The text of Form 20-F does not, and these amendments will not, appear in the Code
of Federal Regulations.

FORM 20-F
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I

PART I

% ok ok sk sk

Item 3. Key Information

* ok ok Kk

E. Climate-related disclosure.

1. Required disclosure. The company must provide disclosure responsive to the topics
specified in Subpart 1500 of Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.1500 through 229.1507) in a part of
the registration statement or annual report that is separately captioned as Climate-Related
Disclosure.

2. Incorporation by reference. Pursuant to Rule 12b-23 (17 CFR 240.12b-23), the
company may incorporate by reference disclosure from other parts of the registration statement
or annual report (e.g., Risk Factors, Information on the Company, Operating and Financial
Review and Prospects, or the financial statements) into the Climate-Related Disclosure item if it
is responsive to the topics specified in Item 1500 through 1507 of Regulation S-K.

* ok ok K K

16. Amend Form 6-K (referenced in § 249.306) by adding the phrase “climate-related
disclosure;” before the phrase “and any other information which the registrant deems of material
importance to security holders.” in the second paragraph of General Instruction B.

17. Amend Form 10-Q (referenced in § 249.308a) by adding Item 1.B (“Climate-Related
disclosure”) to Part II (““Other Information”) to read as follows:

Note: The text of Form 10-Q does not, and these amendments will not, appear in the Code

of Federal Regulations.
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FORM 10-Q
* ok ok Kk
Item 1B. Climate-Related Disclosure. Disclose any material changes to the disclosures
provided in response to Item 6 (“Climate-related disclosure”) of Part II to the registrant’s Form
10-K (17 CFR 229.310).
* ok ok Kk
18. Amend Form 10-K (referenced in § 249.310) by:
a. Revising paragraph (1)(g) of General Instruction J (“Use of this Form by Asset-backed
Issuers™); and
b. Adding Item 6 (“Climate-Related Disclosure”) to Part I to read as follows:
The revision and addition read as follows:
Note: The text of Form 10-K does not, and these amendments will not, appear in the Code
of Federal Regulations.
FORM 10-K

% ok ok sk sk

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

% ok ok sk sk

J. Use of this Form by Asset-Backed Issuers.

%k ok ok sk sk

(g) Item 6, Climate-Related Disclosure;

% ok ok sk sk

Part II
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% ok ok sk sk

Item 6. Climate-Related Disclosure

Provide the disclosure required by Subpart 1500 of Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.1500
through 229.1507) in a part of the annual report that is separately captioned as Climate-Related
Disclosure. Pursuant to Rule 12b-23 (17 CFR 240.12b-23) and General Instruction G of this
form, a registrant may incorporate by reference disclosure from other parts of the registration
statement or annual report (e.g., Risk Factors, Business, Management’s Discussion and Analysis,
or the financial statements) into the Climate-Related Disclosure item if it is responsive to the

topics specified in Item 1500 through 1507 of Regulation S-K.

% ok ok sk sk
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VII. STATUTORY AUTHORITY

The amendments contained in this release are being adopted under the authority set forth
in Sections 7, 10, and 19(a) of the Securities Act, as amended, and Sections 3, 12, 13, 15, and
23(a) of the Exchange Act, as amended.
List of Subjects in 17 CFR Parts 229, 239, and 240

Reporting and recordkeeping requirements, Securities.
Text of the Amendments

In accordance with the foregoing, the Commission amends title 17, chapter II of the
Code of Federal Regulations as follows:
PART 229—-STANDARD INSTRUCTIONS FOR FILING FORMS UNDER
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND ENERGY
POLICY AND CONSERVATION ACT OF 1975 - REGULATION S-K

1. The authority citation for part 229 continues to read as follows:
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Authority: 15 U.S.C. 77e, 771, 77g, 77h, 77], 77k, 77s, 77z-2, 772-3, 77aa(25),
77aa(26), 77ddd, 77eee, 77ggg, 77hhh, 77iii, 77jjj, 77nnn, 77sss, 78¢c, 781, 78], 78j-3, 781, 78m,
78n, 78n-1, 780, 78u-5, 78w, 78I, 78mm, 80a-8, 80a-9, 80a-20, 80a-29, 80a-30, 80a-31(c), 80a-
37, 80a-38(a), 80a-39, 80b-11 and 7201 et seq.; 18 U.S.C. 1350; Sec. 953(b) Pub. L. 111-203,
124 Stat. 1904 (2010); and sec. 102(c), Pub. L. 112-106, 126 Stat. 310 (2012).

2. Amend §229.101 by:
a. Revising paragraphs (a) introductory text and (a)(1);
b. Redesignating paragraph (a)(2) as paragraph (a)(3);
c. Adding new paragraph (a)(2); and
d. Revising paragraph (c¢) and paragraph (h) introductory text.
The revisions and addition read as follows:
§229.101 (Item 101) Description of business.

(a) General development of business. Describe the general development of the business
of the registrant, its subsidiaries, and any predecessor(s).

(1) In describing developments, only information material to an understanding of the
general development of the business is required. Disclosure may include, but should not be
limited to, the following topics:

(1) Any material changes to a previously disclosed business strategy;

(i1) The nature and effects of any material bankruptcy, receivership, or any similar
proceeding with respect to the registrant or any of its significant subsidiaries;

(ii1)) The nature and effects of any material reclassification, merger or consolidation of
the registrant or any of its significant subsidiaries; and

(iv) The acquisition or disposition of any material amount of assets otherwise than in
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the ordinary course of business.

(2) Notwithstanding the provisions of § 230.411(b) or § 240.12b-23(a) of this chapter,
as applicable, a registrant may only forgo providing a full discussion of the general development
of its business for a filing other than an initial registration statement if it provides an update to
the general development of its business, disclosing all of the material developments that have
occurred since the most recent registration statement or report that includes a full discussion of
the general development of its business. In addition, the registrant must incorporate by
reference, and include one active hyperlink to one registration statement or report that includes,
the full discussion of the general development of the registrant’s business.

k ok sk ok o3k

(©) Description of business. (1) Describe the business done and intended to be done
by the registrant and its subsidiaries, focusing upon the registrant’s dominant segment or each
reportable segment about which financial information is presented in the financial statements.
When describing each segment, only information material to an understanding of the business
taken as a whole is required. Disclosure may include, but should not be limited to, the
information specified in paragraphs (c)(1)(i) through (v) of this section.

(1) Revenue-generating activities, products and/or services, and any dependence on
revenue-generating activities, key products, services, product families or customers, including
governmental customers;

(i1) Status of development efforts for new or enhanced products, trends in market
demand and competitive conditions;

(ii1)) Resources material to a registrant’s business, such as:

(A) Sources and availability of raw materials; and
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(B) The duration and effect of all patents, trademarks, licenses, franchises, and
concessions held;

(iv) A description of any material portion of the business that may be subject to
renegotiation of profits or termination of contracts or subcontracts at the election of the
Government; and

(v) The extent to which the business is or may be seasonal.

(2) Discuss the information specified in paragraphs (c)(2)(i) and (ii) of this section with
respect to, and to the extent material to an understanding of, the registrant’s business taken as a
whole, except that, if the information is material to a particular segment, you should additionally
identify that segment.

(1) The material effects that compliance with government regulations, including
environmental regulations, may have upon the capital expenditures, earnings and competitive
position of the registrant and its subsidiaries, including the estimated capital expenditures for
environmental control facilities for the current fiscal year and any other material subsequent
period; and

(i) A description of the registrant’s human capital resources, including the number of
persons employed by the registrant, and any human capital measures or objectives that the
registrant focuses on in managing the business (such as, depending on the nature of the
registrant’s business and workforce, measures or objectives that address the development,
attraction and retention of personnel).

* ok ok ok 3k
(h) Smaller reporting companies. A smaller reporting company, as defined by

§229.10(f)(1), may satisfy its obligations under this Item by describing the development of its
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business pursuant to this paragraph (h). In describing developments under paragraphs (h)(1)
through (3), information should be provided for the period of time that is material to an
understanding of the general development of the business. Notwithstanding the provisions of §
230.411(b) or § 240.12b-23(a) of this chapter as applicable, a smaller reporting company may
only forgo providing a full discussion of the general development of its business for a filing
other than an initial registration statement if it provides an update to the general development of
its business disclosing all of the material developments that have occurred since the most recent
registration statement or report that includes a full discussion of the general development of its
business. In addition, the smaller reporting company must incorporate by reference, and include
one active hyperlink to one registration statement or report that includes, the full discussion of
the general development of the registrant’s business. If the smaller reporting company has not
been in business for three years, provide the same information for predecessor(s) of the smaller
reporting company if there are any. This business development description should include:
* ok kK ok

3. Revise § 229.103 to read as follows:
§229.103 (Item 103) Legal proceedings.

(a) Describe briefly any material pending legal proceedings, other than ordinary routine
litigation incidental to the business, to which the registrant or any of its subsidiaries is a party or
of which any of their property is the subject. Include the name of the court or agency in which
the proceedings are pending, the date instituted, the principal parties thereto, a description of the
factual basis alleged to underlie the proceedings and the relief sought. Include similar
information as to any such proceedings known to be contemplated by governmental authorities.

Information may be provided by hyperlink or cross-reference to legal proceedings disclosure
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elsewhere in the document, such as in Management’s Discussion & Analysis (MD&A), Risk
Factors and notes to the financial statements.

(b) No information need be given under this section for proceedings:

(1) That involve negligence or other claims or actions if the business ordinarily results
in such claims or actions, unless the claim or action departs from the normal kind of such claims
or actions; or

(2) That involve primarily a claim for damages if the amount involved, exclusive of
interest and costs, does not exceed 10 percent of the current assets of the registrant and its
subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. However, if any proceeding presents in large degree the
same legal or factual issues as other proceedings pending or known to be contemplated, the
amount involved in such other proceedings shall be included in computing such percentage.

(c) Notwithstanding paragraph (b) of this section, disclosure under this section shall
include, but shall not be limited to:

(1) Any material bankruptcy, receivership, or similar proceeding with respect to the
registrant or any of its significant subsidiaries;

(2) Any material proceedings to which any director, officer or affiliate of the registrant,
any owner of record or beneficially of more than five percent of any class of voting securities of
the registrant, or any associate of any such director, officer, affiliate of the registrant, or security
holder is a party adverse to the registrant or any of its subsidiaries or has a material interest
adverse to the registrant or any of its subsidiaries;

(3) Administrative or judicial proceedings (including proceedings which present in large
degree the same issues) arising under any Federal, State, or local provisions that have been

enacted or adopted regulating the discharge of materials into the environment or primarily for
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the purpose of protecting the environment. Such proceedings shall not be deemed “ordinary
routine litigation incidental to the business” and shall be described if:

(1) Such proceeding is material to the business or financial condition of the registrant;

(i) Such proceeding involves primarily a claim for damages, or involves potential
monetary sanctions, capital expenditures, deferred charges or charges to income and the amount
involved, exclusive of interest and costs, exceeds 10 percent of the current assets of the
registrant and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis; or

(ii1)) A governmental authority is a party to such proceeding and such proceeding
involves potential monetary sanctions, unless the registrant reasonably believes that such
proceeding will result in no monetary sanctions, or in monetary sanctions, exclusive of interest
and costs, of less than $300,000 or, at the election of the registrant, such other threshold that (A)
the registrant determines is reasonably designed to result in disclosure of any such proceeding
that is material to the business or financial condition is disclosed, (B) the registrant discloses
(including any change thereto) in each annual and quarterly report, and (C) does not exceed the
lesser of $1 million or one percent of the current assets of the registrant and its subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis; provided, however, that such proceedings that are similar in nature may be
grouped and described generically.

4. Revise § 229.105 to read as follows:
§ 229.105 (Item 105) Risk factors.

(a) Where appropriate, provide under the caption “Risk Factors” a discussion of the
material factors that make an investment in the registrant or offering speculative or risky. This
discussion must be organized logically with relevant headings and each risk factor should be set

forth under a subcaption that adequately describes the risk. The presentation of risks that could
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apply generically to any registrant or any offering is discouraged, but to the extent generic risk
factors are presented, disclose them at the end of the risk factor section under the caption
“General Risk Factors.”

(b) Concisely explain how each risk affects the registrant or the securities being offered.
If the discussion is longer than 15 pages, include in the forepart of the prospectus or annual
report, as applicable, a series of concise, bulleted or numbered statements that is no more than
two pages summarizing the principal factors that make an investment in the registrant or
offering speculative or risky. If the risk factor discussion is included in a registration statement,
it must immediately follow the summary section required by § 229.503 (Item 503 of Regulation
S-K). If you do not include a summary section, the risk factor section must immediately follow
the cover page of the prospectus or the pricing information section that immediately follows the
cover page. Pricing information means price and price-related information that you may omit
from the prospectus in an effective registration statement based on Rule 430A (§ 230.430A of
this chapter). The registrant must furnish this information in plain English. See § 230.421(d) of
Regulation C of this chapter.

PART 239 - FORMS PRESCRIBED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
5. The authority citation for part 239 continues to read as follows:

Authority: 15 U.S.C. 77¢, 771, 77g, 77h, 77j, 77s, 772-2, 772-3, T7sss, 78c, 78,
78m,78n, 780(d), 780-7 note, 78u-5, 78w(a), 781/, 78mm, 80a-2(a), 80a-3, 80a-8, 80a-9, 80a-10,
80a-13, 80a-24, 80a-26, 80a-29, 80a-30, and 80a-37; and sec. 107, Pub. L. 112-106, 126 Stat.
312, unless otherwise noted.

% sk ok sk ok

6. Amend Form S-4 (referenced in § 239.25) by revising paragraph (b)(3)(i) of Item 12
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under Part I, Section B (“Information About the Registrant) to read as follows:

Note: The text of Form S-4 does not, and this amendment will not, appear in the Code
of Federal Regulations.

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM S-4
REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
* kK Kk
PART I
INFORMATION REQUIRED IN THE PROSPECTUS

* %k %k ok o3k

B. INFORMATION ABOUT THE REGISTRANT

* %k ok ok sk

Item 12. Information with Respect to S-3 Registrants.
* ok %k *
(b) * * *
(3) Furnish the information required by the following:
(1) Item 101(c)(1)(1) of Regulation S-K (§ 229.101(c)(1)(i) of this chapter), industry

segments, key products or services;

% sk ok sk ok

PART 240—GENERAL RULES AND REGULATIONS, SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

7. The authority citation for part 240 continues to read as follows:

Authority: 15 U.S.C. 77¢, 77d, 77g, 77, 77s, 77z-2, 77z-3, T7eee, 77ggg, 7Tnnn, 77sss,
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77ttt, 78c, 78¢-3, 78c-5, 78d, 78e, 78f, 78g, 781, 78], 78j-1, 78k, 78k-1, 78/, 78m, 78n, 78n-1,
780, 780-4, 780-10, 78p, 78q, 78q-1, 78s, 78u-5, 78w, 78x, 781/, 78mm, 80a-20, 80a-23, 80a-29,
80a-37, 80b-3, 80b-4, 80b-11, 7201 ef seq.; and 8302; 7 U.S.C. 2(c)(2)(E); 12 U.S.C.
5221(e)(3); 18 U.S.C. 1350; and Pub. L. 111-203, 939A, 124 Stat. 1887 (2010); and secs. 503
and 602, Pub. L. 112-106, 126 Stat. 326 (2012), unless otherwise noted.
* ok % Kk

8. Amend § 240.14a-101 by revising paragraph (a) of Item 7 of Schedule 14A to read as

follows:
§ 240.14a-101 Schedule 14A. Information required in proxy statement.
* ok % %k
Item 7. Directors and executive officers. * * *

(a) The information required by Item 103(c)(2) of Regulation S-K (§229.103(c)(2) of

this chapter) with respect to directors and executive officers.

% sk ok sk ok

10
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(f) Diverse Board Representation

(1) Definitions

For purposes of this Rule 5605(f):

“Diverse” means an individual who self-identifies in one or more of the following categories: Female,
Underrepresented Minority, or LGBTQ+.

“Female” means an individual who self-identifies her gender as a woman, without regard to the
individual's designated sex at birth.

“Foreign Issuer” means (a) a Foreign Private Issuer (as defined in Rule 5005(a)(19)); or (b) a
company that (i) is considered a “foreign issuer” under Rule 3b-4(b) under the Act and (i) has its
principal executive offices located outside of the United States.

“‘LGBTQ+” means an individual who self-identifies as any of the following: lesbian, gay, bisexual,
transgender, or as a member of the queer community.

“Approval Date” means the date that the Commission issues an order granting the approval of this
proposed Rule 5605(f).

“Smaller Reporting Company” has the definition set forth in Rule 12b-2 under the Act.

“Underrepresented Minority” means an individual who self-identifies as one or more of the following:
Black or African American, Hispanic or Latinx, Asian, Native American or Alaska Native, Native
Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, or Two or More Races or Ethnicities.

“Two or More Races or Ethnicities” means a person who identifies with more than one of the
following categories: White (not of Hispanic or Latinx origin), Black or African American, Hispanic or
Latinx, Asian, Native American or Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander.

(2) Diversity Objective

(A) General Objective

Each Company, except as described below in (B), (C) or (D), must have, or explain why it
does not have, at least two members of its board of directors who are Diverse, including (i) at
least one Diverse director who self-identifies as Female; and (ii) at least one Diverse director
who self-identifies as an Underrepresented Minority or LGBTQ+.

(B) Foreign Issuers
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(i) For purposes of this Rule 5605(f)(2)(B), (a) “Diverse” means an individual who self-
identifies as one or more of the following: Female, LGBTQ+, or an underrepresented
individual based on national, racial, ethnic, indigenous, cultural, religious or linguistic
identity in the country of the Company’s principal executive offices (as reported on the
Company’s Form F-1, 10-K, 20-F or 40-F); and (b) “board of directors” means, in the
case of a Foreign Issuer with a two-tier board system, the Company’s supervisory or
non-management board.

(i) Subject to subparagraph (D) below, each Foreign Issuer must have, or explain why
it does not have, at least two members of its board of directors who are Diverse,
including at least one Diverse director who self-identifies as Female. For greater
clarity, the second Diverse director may include an individual who self-identifies as
one or more of the following: Female, LGBTQ+, or an underrepresented individual
based on national, racial, ethnic, indigenous, cultural, religious or linguistic identity in
the country of the Company’s principal executive offices.

(C) Smaller Reporting Companies

Subject to subparagraph (D) below, each Smaller Reporting Company must have, or explain
why it does not have, at least two members of its board of directors who are Diverse,
including at least one Diverse director who self-identifies as Female. For greater clarity, the
second Diverse director may include an individual who self-identifies as one or more of the
following: Female, LGBTQ+, or an Underrepresented Minority.

(D) Companies with Smaller Boards

Each Company with a board of directors of five or fewer members must have, or explain why
it does not have, at least one member of its board of directors who is Diverse. If a Company
has five members on its board of directors before becoming subject to this Rule 5605(f), it
shall not become subject to the requirement of subparagraphs (A), (B) or (C) to have at least
two members of its board of directors who are Diverse if it adds one director to satisfy this
subparagraph (D), thereby becoming a six member board. However, a company would
become subject to Rule 5605(f)(2)(A), (B) or (C) if it subsequently expands its board.

(3) Alternative Public Disclosure

If a Company satisfies the requirements of Rule 5605(f)(2) by explaining why it does not meet the
applicable diversity objectives of Rule 5605(f)(2), the Company must: (i) specify the requirements of
Rule 5605(f)(2) that are applicable; and (ii) explain the reasons why it does not have two Diverse
directors (or one Diverse director for Companies subject to Rule 5605(f)(2)(D)). Such disclosure
must be provided on or before December 31 either: (a) in any proxy statement or any information
statement (or, if the Company does not file a proxy, in its Form 10-K or 20-F); or (b) on the
Company’s website. If the Company provides such disclosure on its website, then the Company
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must submit such disclosure concurrently with the filing made pursuant to (a) and submit a URL link
to the disclosure either through the Nasdaq Listing Center or via an e-mail to
drivingdiversity@nasdaq.com, within one business day after such posting.

(4) Exempt Companies

The following types of companies are exempt from the requirements of this Rule 5605(f) (“Exempt
Companies”): acquisition companies listed under IM-5101-2; asset-backed issuers and other
passive issuers (as set forth in Rule 5615(a)(1)); cooperatives (as set forth in Rule 5615(a)(2));
limited partnerships (as set forth in Rule 5615(a)(4)); management investment companies (as set
forth in Rule 5615(a)(5)); issuers of non- voting preferred securities, debt securities and Derivative
Securities (as set forth in Rule 5615(a)(6)) that do not have equity securities listed on Nasdag; and
issuers of securities listed under the Rule 5700 Series.

(5) Phase-in Period

(A) Any Company newly listing on The Nasdaq Global Select Market or The Nasdaq Global
Market that was not previously subject to a substantially similar requirement of another
national securities exchange, including through an initial public offering, direct listing, transfer
from the over-the-counter market or another exchange, in connection with a spin-off or carve-
out from a company listed on Nasdaq or another exchange, or through a merger with an
acquisition company listed under IM-5101-2, shall be permitted to satisfy the requirement of
Rule 5605(f)(2) to have, or explain why it does not have: (i) at least one Diverse director by
the later of: (a) one year from the date of listing; or (b) the date the Company files its proxy
statement or its information statement (or, if the Company does not file a proxy, in its Form
10-K or 20-F) for the Company’s first annual meeting of shareholders subsequent to the
Company’s listing; and (i) at least two Diverse directors by the later of: (a) two years from
the date of listing; or (b) the date the Company files its proxy statement or its information
statement (or, if the Company does not file a proxy, in its Form 10-K or 20-F) for the
Company’s second annual meeting of shareholders subsequent to the Company’s

listing.

(B) Any Company newly listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market that was not previously
subject to a substantially similar requirement of another national securities exchange,
including through an initial public offering, direct listing, transfer from the over-the-counter
market or another exchange, in connection with a spin-off or carve-out from a company listed
on Nasdaq or another exchange, or through a merger with an acquisition company listed
under IM-5101-2, shall be permitted to satisfy the requirement of Rule 5605(f)(2) to have, or
explain why it does not have at least two Diverse directors by the later of: (a) two years from
the date of listing; or (b) the date the Company files its proxy statement or its information
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statement (or, if the Company does not file a proxy, in its Form 10-K or 20-F) for the
Company’s second annual meeting of shareholders subsequent to the Company’s listing.

(C) Any Company that ceases to be a Foreign Issuer, a Smaller Reporting Company, or an
Exempt Company shall be permitted to satisfy the requirements of Rule 5605(f) by the later
of: (i) one year from the date that the Company no longer qualifies as a Foreign Issuer, a
Smaller Reporting Company or an Exempt Company, respectively; or (ii) the date the
Company files its proxy statement or its information statement (or, if the Company does not
file a proxy, in its Form 10-K or 20-F) for the Company’s first annual meeting of shareholders
subsequent to such event.

(D) Any Company newly listing on The Nasdaq Global Select Market, The Nasdaq Global
Market and The Nasdaq Capital Market that has a board of five or fewer members and was
not previously subject to a substantially similar requirement of another national securities
exchange, including through an initial public offering, direct listing, transfer from the over-the-
counter market or another exchange, in connection with a spin-off or carve-out from a
company listed on Nasdaq or another exchange, or through a merger with an acquisition
company listed under IM-5101-2, shall be permitted to satisfy the requirement of Rule
5605(f)(2) to have, or explain why it does not have at least one Diverse director by the later
of: (a) two years from the date of listing; or (b) the date the Company files its proxy statement
or its information statement (or, if the Company does not file a proxy, in its Form 10-K or 20-
F) for the Company’s second annual meeting of shareholders subsequent to the Company’s
listing.

(6) Cure Period and Grace Period

(A) If a Company (i) does not meet the applicable diversity objectives set forth under Rule
5605(f)(2) and fails to provide the disclosure required by Rule 5605(f)(3), or (i) fails to hold an
annual meeting of shareholders during the applicable periods in Rule 5605(f)(5) or (7) and
therefore fails to meet, or explain why it does not meet, the diversity objectives of Rule
5605(f)(2), the Listing Qualifications Department will promptly notify the Company and inform
it that it has until the later of its next annual shareholders meeting or 180 days from the event
that caused the deficiency to cure the deficiency.

(B) A Company that satisfied the diversity objectives of Rule 5605(f)(2) within the timeframes
set forth in Rule 5605(f)(7), but ceases to meet the diversity objectives of Rule 5605(f)(2) due
to a vacancy on its board of directors, shall have until the later of: (i) one year from the date of
vacancy; or (ii) the date the Company files its proxy statement or its information statement
(or, if the Company does not file a proxy, in its Form 10-K or 20-F) in the calendar year
following the year of the date of vacancy, to satisfy Rule 5605(f)(2) or (3). In lieu of providing



[% %} 3] Nasdaq Rule 5605(f)-5606

the disclosure required by Rule 5605(f)(3), a Company relying on this provision may publicly
disclose that it is relying on the grace period provided by this Rule 5605(f)(6)(B). Such
disclosure must be provided in advance of the Company’s next annual meeting of
shareholders: (a) in any proxy statement or any information statement (or, if the Company
does not file a proxy, in its Form 10-K or 20-F); or (b) on the Company’s website. If the
Company provides such disclosure on its website, then the Company must submit such
disclosure concurrently with the filing made pursuant to (a) and submit a URL link to the
disclosure through the Nasdaq Listing Center, within one business day after such posting.

(7) Effective Dates/Transition

(A) Each Company listed on The Nasdaq Global Select Market, The Nasdaq Global Market,
and The Nasdaq Capital Market (including a Company with a smaller board under Rule
5606(f)(2)(D)) must have, or explain why it does not have, at least one Diverse director by
December 31, 2023.

(B) Each Company listed on The Nasdaq Global Select Market or The Nasdaq Global Market
must have, or explain why it does not have, at least two Diverse directors by December 31,
2025.

(C) Each Company listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market must have, or explain why it does
not have, at least two Diverse directors by December 31, 2026.

(D) Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Company is not required to comply with the
requirements of this Rule 5605(f) prior to the end of the phase-in periods described in Rule
5605(f)(5), if applicable.

(E) A company listing after the Approval Date, but prior to the end of the periods set forth in
this subparagraph (7), must fully satisfy the requirements of this Rule 5605(f) by the later of
the periods set forth in this subparagraph (7) or the two year phase-in periods set forth in
Rule 5605(f)(5).

(F) A company listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market that transfers to The Nasdaq Global
Select Market or The Nasdaq Global Market after the Approval Date, but prior to the end of
the periods set forth in this subparagraph (7), must satisfy the requirements of this Rule
5605(f) by the later of: (i) the periods set forth in this subparagraph (7)(C); or (ii) one year
from the date of transfer.

Amended July 22, 2010 (SR-NASDAQ-2008-014); amended Jan. 11, 2013 (SR-NASDAQ-2012-109);
amended Aug. 6, 2021 (SR-NASDAQ-2020-081); amended Dec. 12, 2022 (SR-NASDAQ-2022-075),
operative Jan. 11, 2023.
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5606. Board Diversity Disclosure

(a) Each Company must annually disclose, to the extent permitted by applicable law, information on each
director’s voluntary self-identified characteristics in a substantially similar format below. Following the first
year of disclosure, all companies must disclose the current year and immediately prior year diversity
statistics using the Board Diversity Matrix.

Board Diversity Matrix (As of [DATE])

Total Number of Directors #
Did Not
Female Male Non—Binary Disclose
Gender
Part I: Gender Identity
Directors # # # #
Part II: Demographic Background
African American or Black # # # #
Alaskan Native or Native American # # # #
Asian # # # #
Hispanic or Latinx # # # #
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander # # # #
White # # # #
Two or More Races or Ethnicities # # # #
LGBTQ+ #

Did Not Disclose Demographic
Background

However, a Company that qualifies as a Foreign Issuer under Rule 5605(f)(1) may elect to use the format
below:
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Board Diversity Matrix (As of [DATE])

To be completed by Foreign Issuers (with principal executive offices outside of the U.S.) and

Foreign Private Issuers

Country of Principal Executive
i P [Insert Country Name]

Offices

Foreign Private Issuer Yes/No

Disclosure Prohibi nder Hom

Cos;:nc:: ;Wo bited under Home Yes/No

Total Number of Directors #
Did Not

Female Male Non—Binary Disclose

Gender

Part I: Gender Identity

Directors # # # #
Part II: Demographic Background

Underrepresented Individual in
Home Country Jurisdiction

LGBTQ+ #

Did Not Disclose Demographic
Background

(b) The disclosure required by this Rule 5606 must be provided on or before December 31 either: (a) in any
proxy statement or any information statement (or, if the Company does not file a proxy, in its Form 10-K or
20-F); or (b) on the Company’s website. If the Company provides such disclosure on its website, then the
Company must submit such disclosure concurrently with the filing made pursuant to (a) and submit a URL
link to the disclosure either through the Nasdaq Listing Center or via an e-mail to
drivingdiversity@nasdag.com, within one business day after such posting.

(c) This Rule 5606 shall not apply to Exempt Companies as defined in Rule 5605(f)(4).

(d) A Company newly listing on Nasdaq that was not previously subject to a substantially similar
requirement of another national securities exchange, including through an initial public offering, direct listing,
transfer from the over-the-counter market or another exchange, in connection with a spin-off or carve-out
from a company listed on Nasdaq or another exchange, or through a merger with an acquisition company
listed under IM-5101-2, must satisfy the requirement of this Rule 5606 within one year of listing.
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Adopted Aug. 6, 2021 (SR-NASDAQ-2020-081); amended Dec. 12, 2022 (SR-NASDAQ-2022-075),
operative Jan. 11, 2023.
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